A NOVEL HIGH THROUGHPUT METHOD FOR NANOPARTICLE PRODUCTION BY ATOMIC VAPOUR DEPOSITION ON A LIQUID JET

A DISSERTATION PRESENTED BY MICHAEL MCNALLY TO THE DEPARTMENT OF PHYSICS AND ASTRONOMY

IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN THE SUBJECT OF PHYSICS

> University of Leicester Leicester, Leicestershire February 2017

© 2017 - Michael McNally All rights reserved.

A NOVEL HIGH THROUGHPUT METHOD FOR NANOPARTICLE PRODUCTION BY ATOMIC VAPOUR DEPOSITION ON A LIQUID JET

Abstract

INJECTING A LIQUID JET INTO VACUUM, AND CO-DEPOSITING THIS WITH ATOMIC VAPOUR, VARIOUS NANOMATERIALS WERE SYNTHESISED. NANOPARTICLES OF ZINC OXIDE, COPPER, SIL-VER AND SILICA WERE PRODUCED. THE SILVER VAPOUR / ETHANOL LIQUID JET SYSTEM WAS CHOSEN TO BENCHMARK THIS NEW SYNTHESIS METHOD.

PARTICLES OF SILVER IN ETHANOL HAD A LOG-NORMAL SIZE DISTRIBUTION, WITH A MEDIAN SIZE PROPORTIONAL TO THE LOGARITHM OF SILVER CONCENTRATION, OVER THREE ORDERS OF MAGNITUDE. PARTICLES SHOWED A PLASMON RESONANCE CHARACTERISTIC OF SILVER NANOPARTICLES. IT WAS SHOWN THAT THE PLASMON ABSORPTION PEAK SHAPE (HEIGHT TO WIDTH RATIO) WAS APPROXIMATELY CONSTANT FOR SILVER/ETHANOL SAMPLES, REGARDLESS OF CONCENTRATION OR AGEING. THE SOLVENT USED HAD A PROFOUND EFFECT ON BOTH THE PARTICLE SIZE, WHICH WAS MEASURED VARYING FROM 2 NM IN WATER TO 10 NM IN ISOPROPANOL, BUT ALSO ON THE PLASMON SHAPE. THIS RATIO CHANGED DEPENDENT ON THE SOLVENT CHEMISTRY, BUT WAS LARGELY INDEPENDENT TO OTHER PARAMETERS.

By dissolving commercially available spheres of silica in methanol, jetting, and codeposition with silver, silica particles were decorated with silver. These particles were catalytically active, and evolved away methanol at a rate of 1.65 x 10-7 mol g⁻¹s⁻¹.

A phase of ultra-small clusters was identified in both silica and silver samples by mircoscopy and spectroscopy. In the case of silver, these were tentatively ascribed to clusters of $Ag_{2 < N < 5}$. Silver deposited with pure water was highly selective of these particles. Atomic force microscopy studies of arrays of these

Thesis advisor: Klaus von Haeften

PARTICLES ON SURFACES SHOWED EVIDENCE FOR THE CO-EXISTENCE OF THREE PHASES OF A CLUSTER FLUID. ORDER OF MAGNITUDE DIFFUSION RATES WERE ESTIMATED FROM EXPERIMENTAL DATA. LIQUID LIKE CLUSTER ARRAYS HAD DIFFUSION RATE ON THE ORDER OF 10^{-2} Nm²S⁻¹ and GAS PHASE CLUSTERS WERE ESTIMATED TO HAVE A DIFFUSION RATE ON THE ORDER OF 1 Nm²S⁻¹.

Contents

1	INTRODUCTION				
	1.1	Chemical Synthesis	2		
		1.1.1 Nucleation and Growth	3		
	1.2	Physical Synthesis	7		
		1.2.1 Sputtering onto Liquids	9		
		1.2.2 LASIS	10		
		1.2.3 SMAD	10		
	1.3	Research Questions	11		
2	Methodology				
	2.1	Vacuum Liquid Microjets	13		
	2.2	Deposition of Metals into Liquids	15		
		2.2.1 Operation of a Custom Liquid Microjet System	15		
		2.2.2 Liquid Jet Capture	17		
		2.2.3 Liquid Jet Flow Rate	20		
	2.3	Vapour Deposition	23		
		2.3.1 Sputtering Parameters	23		
	2.4	Analytical Methods	28		
		2.4.1 Spectroscopy	28		
		2.4.2 UV-VIS	29		
		2.4.3 FTIR	31		
		2.4.4 XPS	32		
	2.5	Microscopy	39		
		2.5.1 Transmission Electron Microscopy	39		
		2.5.2 Scanning Probe Microscopy	39		
		2.5.3 Image Analysis	41		
3	Мет	AL ATOMS AND NANOPARTICLES	43		
	3.1	Silver Benchmark	44		
	3.2	Copper, Zinc, Silicon	47		
		3.2.1 Copper	47		
		3.2.2 Zinc	49		
		3.2.3 Silicon	53		
	3.3	Characterisation of Silver Nanoparticles	60		
		3.3.1 Silver in Water	60		
		3.3.2 XPS	64		
		3.3.3 Size of Silver Particles	64		
		3.3.4 The Silver Plasmon Resonance	69		

	3.4	Sur	nmary and Prospects	73			
4	Colloidal Particles and Interactions						
	4.1	Syr	thesis of Composite Particles	78			
		4.1.1	UV-Vis characterisation	80			
		4.1.2	Catalytic Properties	82			
		4.1.3	Microscopy	87			
	4.2	Evo	lluation and Reflections	89			
5	Νάν	IOPARI	TICLE ARRAYS ON GRAPHITE	93			
	5.1	Me	asurement of Nanoparticle Array Dynamics	97			
		5.1.1	Linear Growth	97			
		5.1.2	Area Dissolution	99			
		5.1.3	Large Nanoparticle Volume Loss	103			
		5.1.4	Array Infill	103			
		5.1.5	Comparison of Diffusion Rates	106			
6	Disc	CUSSIO	n and Conclusions	112			
References							
	6.1	Арр	pendix A: Silica 2p Binding Energies	131			
	6.2	Арр	pendix B: Code for Shirley Background Subtraction	132			

LIST OF COLLABORATORS

The following collaborators contributed to Chapter 3: Hanieh Yazdanfar, Mumin Koc, Andrew Ward, Oliver Youle, Osarenkhoe Uwuigbe

The following collaborators contributed to Chapter 4: Oliver Youle, Osarenkhoe Uwuigbe

The following collaborators contributed to Chapter 5: Mumin Koc, Gauthier Torricelli

Listing of figures

1.1.1 1.1.2	Free energy with increasing particle radius	5 8
2.2.1	Coater diagram	16
2.2.2	Capillary fitting	16
2.2.3	Cold trap schematic	18
2.2.4	Liquid jet flow rates	22
2.3.1	Sputter Power and Current	24
2.3.2	Material Sputter Rates	27
2.4.1	UV Spectrometer Schematic	30
2.4.2	XPS energy diagram	33
2.4.3	IMFP	35
2.4.4	Charging a spherical capacitor	38
2.5.1	Lennard-Jones potential	40
2.5.2	AFM/STM comparison	40
2.5.3	AFM Flooding	42
3.1.1	First Silver Samples	46
3.2.1	Copper Water UV	48
3.2.2	Copper Water XPS	50
3.2.3	Zinc Ethanol UV	52
3.2.4	Zinc Ethanol Tauc Plot	52
3.2.5	Zinc Ethanol Fluorescence	54
3.2.6	Silicon Water UV-Vis aged	54
3.2.7	Silicon Water UV	55
3.2.8	All Silicon Water UV-Vis aged	57
3.2.9	Silicon Water FTIR	57
3.2.10	Silicon Water XPS	59
3.2.11	Silver Dilution Series	59
3.2.12	Silicon AFM	61
3.2.13	Silicon Water AFM	61
3.3.1	UV Shoulder Region	62
3.3.2	Silver Water UV-Vis	63
3.3.3	Silver XPS	65
3.3.4	AFM of silver nanoparticles	67
3.3.5	Silver AFM size distributions	68
3.3.6	TEM of silver nanoparticles	70
3.3.7	Silver TEM size distributions	71

3.3.8	Timed Silver UV	72
3.3.9	Silver Plasmon Shape	74
3.3.10	Silver Plasmon Shape	74
4.0.1	Plasmon shape with added citric acid	79
4.1.1	UV spectra of silver decorated silica particles	81
412	Plasmon shape with added colloidal silica	83
4.1.3	Plasmon shape with silica added pre and post-production	83
4.1.4	Mass of methanol evolved off silicon-silver hybrids	84
4.1.5	Silver-Silica Peak Plasmon Resonance	86
4.1.6	Proportional mass loss	88
4.1.7	TEM image of silver-silica hybrid particles	88
4.1.8	Mass of silver vs. median particle size	90
4.2.1	Plasmon shape plot of all silver containing samples	90
4.2.2	Non-Baseline corrected peak intensity against peak width	91
5.0.1	Aligned cluster arrays	95
5.0.2	Step growth of arrays	96
5.0.3	AFM and STM of silicon / water liquid jet samples	98
5.1.1	Fluid-like growth of arrays	98
5.1.2	Growth of linear structures	100
5.1.3	Growth of lines	100
5.1.4	Microscopy of array dissolution	102
5.1.5	Dissolution of arrays	102
5.1.6	Dissolution of arrays: isolated clusters	104
5.1.7	Hole defects in arrays	104
5.1.8	Filling of hole defects in arrays	105
5.1.9	Perimeter change with particle additions	107
5.1.10	Stripe arrays in silver / ethanol samples	110
6.01	Evidence for silicon clusters	114

To Charles and Joan Emerson, Francis, Elsa and Michael McNally, without whom I'd have neither life nor name.

Acknowledgments

THANKS ARE IN ORDER to a great many people without whom this thesis would never have happened. In no particular order ... To my fellow PhD students for their support, friendship and insight: Luis Mendoza Luna, Nagham Shiltagh, Katie Dexter, Gediminas Galinis, and a special thanks to Hanieh Yazdanfar and Mumin Mehmet Koç, without whom much of the data in this thesis would not exist. I also have to thank Gauthier Torricelli, who I met very rarely but without whose expertise microscopy would have been impossible. Thanks to Osarenkhoe Uwuigbe and Martin Petr for continuing this work and generating exciting new results now I have been shooed out of the lab. A great debt is owed to Olly Youle, who repeated a lot of previous work carried out by me and Hanieh, but did it properly.

Thanks to everyone who provided technical support, taught me appropriate four letter technical terms to describe equipment and most importantly taught me how to run a lab, how to manage and be managed, and who gave a lot without expecting anything back. So thank you to Mark Watkins and Stuart Thornton. Mark, I can never repay you for helping me clean the XPS coolant lines, and especially for solving that hideous issue. Stuart, I can't tell you how much I will miss setting the world to rights with you: thank you for always being there and going out of your way for me. Similarly, thank you to members of the department who've always managed to find time to chat about this or that. Thanks to Paul Howes for disagreeing with me so generously.

Thanks to all of my excellent students: Dewan Chowdury, Daniel Urben, Benedict Irwen, Ralph Summers, Jacob Hamblin-Price, Dominic Fenlon-Smith, Pawandeep Sahota, Roaa Sait, Darine Loghmari, Vinay Malhotra.

Without the patience, support and trust of my supervisor, Klaus von Haeften, I could never have achieved this. I hope that you have found working together as rewarding as I have. Thank you to Elke, Isabella and Valerie for being such good friends to Fran and I.

To my wonderful family, Wilsons and McNallys, you have always had so much faith and support for me. Thank you.

And to my beautiful wife. I love you. Thank you for being with me.

Everything starts somewhere, although many physicists disagree.

Terry Pratchett

1 Introduction

METAL PARTICLES WITH dimensions less than one ten millionth of a metre are considered nanoparticles. Metal nanoparticles are now known for their many applications across all modern technologies including energy harvesting [1, 2], catalysis [3, 4] and medicine [2, 4, 5].

Synthesis of nanoscale systems is commonly divided into two main categories, top-down and bottom-up [6, 7]. In bottom up synthesis, particles are assembled from individual atoms or molecules. Chemical synthesis techniques generate individual metal atoms or ions well dispersed in a solvent by chemical reduction [2, 4, 5, 8-11], and are considered a bottom-up technique. Often organic molecules are added to stabilise the resulting particles, or to provide templates for particle growth [7, 10, 12-14]. Such techniques can produce a dizzying array of nanoparticles with differing morphologies and stoichiometry [8, 9, 11, 15]. However, in practice individual synthesis protocols are unique and specific to a particular metal and shape; "the synthesis of metal nanoparticles remains more of an art than a science" [10].

Top-down processes break down a larger target into smaller pieces to produce nano-materials. Top down approaches in solution include melting and emulsifying metal droplets in hot solvent [6], arc-discharge at metal electrodes [16, 17] and laser ablation in solution (LASIS) [18, 19].

In this thesis, a new technique is introduced that straddles these two concepts. By injecting a liquid jet into vacuum, solvents such as water and ethanol, traditionally associated with bottom up syntheses, can be mixed with pure atomic vapours in vacuum.

1.1 BOTTOM UP: CHEMICAL SYNTHESIS

The starting material in most syntheses of metal nanoparticles is a metal salt in solution [7, 10]. Metal ions can exist in complexes with ligands, counterions and solvent molecules. Metal ion reduction is the next step towards growing larger metal particles. Ions can be reduced by addition of a chemical reducing agent [12, 13, 20-22], by irradiation [23, 24], photoreduction [25, 26], and thermal reduction [21, 27, 28]. Once reduced from solution, metal atoms aggregate and grow into clusters. Growth by this method can be described as a coprecipitation reaction [29, 30].

1.1.1 NUCLEATION AND GROWTH

The classical model of coprecipitation, by La Mer [31], considers a homogenous solution of metal ions, where the reduction reaction changes the system parameters such that it becomes supersaturated. A saturated solution is one where the concentration of dissolved material has reached a maximum, and no further material can be dissolved. If system parameters are changed, for example the solution is cooled, then the maximum possible concentration of dissolved material, C_{eq} , can change. The solution is said to be supersaturated if the actual concentration of dissolved material in the solution, *C*, is greater than C_{eq} . The supersaturation *S* is given by $S = C/C_{eq}$ [29].

Now we consider the free energy of a particle ΔG , which is formed from the precipitated material in the solution with supersaturation *S*. This has two contributions, from the free energy of the surface γ and the crystal free energy ΔG_{ν} . The free energy of the crystal is dependent on temperature *T* and its molar volume, ν .

A spherical particle of radius r with surface energy γ has total free energy given by equation 1.1 [14].

$$\Delta G = 4\pi r^2 \gamma + \frac{4}{3}\pi r^3 \Delta G_{\nu} \tag{1.1}$$

Where we can calculate the crystal free energy by equation 1.2 [14, 29],

where k_B is Boltzmann's constant and S is the supersaturation of the solution.

$$\Delta G_{\nu} = \frac{-k_B T \ln(S)}{\nu} \tag{1.2}$$

We can define a critical free energy G_{crit} , where the contributions of surface and volume free energies are balanced. This is schematically illustrated in figure 1.1.1 below [14]. By setting $d\Delta G/dr = 0$, we can find the critical free energy (equation 1.3 [14]) and the corresponding critical radius (equation 1.4 [14, 29]). Below this critical radius, particles are more likely to lose atoms to solution and dissolve. Above this radius, particles are more likely to accumulate more precipitating atoms and grow.

$$\Delta G_{crit} = \frac{4}{3} \pi \gamma r_{crit}^2 \tag{1.3}$$

$$r_{crit} = \frac{2\gamma\nu}{k_B T \ln S} \tag{1.4}$$

This first stage of particle growth is known as nucleation, where the first clusters which are thermodynamically stable against dissolution are formed. The rate of nucleation can be expressed as the Arrhenius type equation 1.5. The rate is dependent on the three parameters of temperature T, surface energy γ and saturation S. Crucially, the exponential shows that the rate of nucleation will be negligible until a critical exponent is reached, at which point



Particle Radius

Figure 1.1.1: The relationship between the particle radius and total free energy, ΔG . Contributions to total energy are from surface, ΔG_{γ} , and crystal, ΔG_{ν} , terms. These cancel at ΔG_{crit} , which is the maximum of $\Delta G(r)$. The corresponding radius is r_{crit} , the critical radius. Figure adapted from [7, 14, 29].

nucleation will become very rapid.

$$\frac{dN}{dt} = Aexp\left(\frac{-\Delta G_{crit}}{k_B T}\right) = Aexp\left(-\frac{16\pi\gamma^3\nu^2}{3k_B^3 T^3(\ln S)^2}\right)$$
(1.5)

Surface energy can be altered with the addition of surfactants to the solution. The adhesion energies of organic molecules to inorganic surfaces cannot be reliably measured [9], hence; modification of surface energy by addition of surfactants is not precise. It is known that trace impurities in a solvent can dramatically change the nucleation of nanoparticles [9, 10]. This suggests that even trace surfactants will unpredictably alter the surface energy term.

The temperature of the reaction is simple to control in principle. It follows that the nucleation rate could be well controlled with temperature. Empirically it is known that the pre-exponential factor *A* can change substantially with temperature [8]. This captures the changes in diffusion rate with temperature. For this reason, the temperature does not lead to a predictable change in nucleation rate.

The supersaturation, *S*, is then the key parameter in controlling the nucleation rate of particles. It follows that the nucleation rate is low, until the supersaturation of the solution reaches a critical level, at which point nucleation occurs rapidly. As particles nucleate, the supersaturation drops and the nucleation rate decreases. Particles then grow by steady addition of individual atoms. As illustrated in Figure 1.1.1; above the critical radius the activation energy cost for growth drops rapidly. This makes incremental growth energetically favourable even at lower supersaturation. This classical model of particle nucleation and growth is schematically illustrated in figure 1.1.2. The concentration of *monomer* (metal atoms, ions) in solution is increased beyond supersaturation, until a critical concentration, C_{crit} , is reached. The nucleation rate increases dramatically, as expected from equation 1.5. For the purposes of this model, the nucleation rate is considered to be effectively infinite [8, 14, 29]. It is assumed that nuclei are formed continuously until the concentration drops below critical. At this point, the formation of new nuclei is essentially halted, and existing particles grow by addition of single monomers until the concentration reaches an equilibrium. In principle, the rate of cluster growth and dissolution is balanced at this point.

Chemical syntheses have limitations, particularly as regards waste and environmental impact [32]. Moreover there are many aspects of particle growth which are not captured by this model. For example, it is usually assumed that dissolved metal ions are monatomic. However; experiment has shown that solutions of AgNO3 contain up to 27 % Ag_3^+ clusters [10], which leads to the formation of triangular nuclei and particles. Moreover, particles can aggregate, as opposed to growing by addition of single atoms, or can undergo further secondary processes such as Ostwald ripening (growth of large particles at the expense of smaller [29].)

1.2 TOP DOWN: PHYSICAL SYNTHESIS

Top down methods for nanoparticle synthesis in liquids are relatively new, Klabunde et. al. first reported the deposition of magnesium vapour into Hexane and THF to produce highly reactive magnesium slurries [33]. Since then a



Figure 1.1.2: Particle concentration over time in a classic nucleation model. The monomer concentration is raised above until reaching a critical level, C_{crit} . Here, the supersaturation, $S = \frac{C_{crit}}{C_{eq}}$, is high enough to initiate extremely rapid nucleation. Condensation of monomer onto the nuclei then rapidly lowers the concentration until it stabilises around the equilibrium value C_{eq} . Figure adapted from [7, 8].

few widely used techniques have been developed: laser ablation synthesis in solution (LASIS) [19, 34, 35], solvated metal atom dispersion (SMAD) [36-38] and sputtering onto liquids [39-43]. These physical methods for nanoparticle production disperse metal atoms in solution without the use of chemical precursors and reducing agents. They can achieve greater purity [19] and reactivity [33] than traditional chemical synthesis.

1.2.1 Sputtering onto Liquids

Atomic metal vapour can be produced by sputtering and thermal evaporation, and then be directly deposited into liquids with sufficiently low vapour pressures [39-42]. Silver nanoparticles with diameter 3.7 ± 1.3 nm can be produced by sputter deposition into canola oil [41], and sputter deposition of gold into the ionic liquid N,N,N-trimethyl-N-propylammonium bis(trifluoromethanesulfonyl)imide produced particles with diameter 1.9 ± 0.5 nm [42].

In principle, this is very similar to our experiment: atomic vapours are mixed with solvents. However, these techniques as applied are limited to low vapour pressure liquids, such as ionic liquids or vegetable oils [43]. The particles produced are related to both the deposition parameters and the liquid used [39-41]. Based on a substantial review of experimental work, Wender [43] has concluded that sputtering onto liquid is a robust technique for producing a range of nanomaterials that are often challenging to produce with other methods. The optimal organic solvent, most compatible with typical inorganic chemistry, remains a vegetable oil [43].

1.2.2 LASER ABLATION SYNTHESIS IN SOLUTION

Laser ablation of metal targets immersed in solvent produces metal atoms in a small plasma plume ablated from the target [19, 34, 35], which can undergo reactions with the solvent and with each other to form nanoparticles. Typically, these particles have long-term colloidal stability and often have unmodified surfaces [35], making them highly suitable for easy functionalisation. This can produce similarly small particles: laser ablation of gold in toluene yielded particles with a diameter of 1.8 ± 1.0 nm [34].

Laser ablation can cause the breakdown of dissolved material or even the solvent itself [34, 35]. This limits the options for solvents which can be used, as well as constraining which materials can be dissolved in the solution. Also, the generation of metal atoms in an energetic plasma plume introduces many additional reaction pathways and mechanisms by which nanoparticles can form.

1.2.3 SOLVATED METAL ATOM DEPOSITION

Metal vapours can be thoroughly mixed by co-deposition with solvent vapour in a vessel with liquid nitrogen cooled walls [36-38]. The atomic vapour and solvent vapour co-condense and freeze. When this ice melts, nanoparticles form in solution. The limitations to reaction possibilities in this system are related to the need to vaporise both the solvent and the metal. This method is only compatible with thermal evaporation, which is limited to a subset of metals, and is very challenging for semi-metals and compounds. Other

methods of metal evaporation would induce strong interactions with vapour present in the chamber.

Similarly, the necessary evaporation of the solvent means that it is challenging to produce samples in mixed solvents with arbitrary ratios, due to differential evaporation. It is also impossible to introduce certain dissolved materials, again for the simple reason that these cannot be reliably evaporated with a solvent in arbitrary concentrations.

One unique aspect of solvated metal atom dispersion which (to the author's knowledge) has not been reported for other methods is the high reactivity of particles after production and their propensity for digestive ripening. Silver colloids had very broad size distributions as produced, however digestive ripening for several hours in the presence of stabiliser molecules and heating produced particles with narrow size distributions [38]

1.3 Open Research Questions

The object of this thesis is to characterise the use of a liquid jet as a vehicle to mix metal atoms and solvents. Do typical growth processes apply? Does the co-precipitation model hold? What are the properties of the produced nanoparticles?

The first results chapter, Atoms and Nanoparticles, covers the basic properties of synthesised nanoparticles of single materials in single solvents. This focuses mainly on silver as a benchmark material.

The second chapter discusses the properties of nanoparticle produced in some mixed solvents, and when nanoparticles are dissolved in the jet prior to deposition of silver.

The final results chapter demonstrates the novel behaviour of nanoparticles on surfaces. Small nanoparticles can align on surfaces, and these arrays show new dynamics. "As the man said, for every complex problem there's a simple solution, and it's wrong."

Umberto Eco

2 Methodology

A BROAD RANGE of experimental procedures and analysis tools have been brought together in this work to effectively provide a general characterisation of nanomaterials. This chapter serves as an overview of techniques used and summarises those aspects most relevant to this investigation.

2.1 VACUUM LIQUID MICROJETS

There is a limited set of materials which can exist in liquid phase in a vacuum, typically those with very low stagnation vapour pressures. Some examples are vegetable oils and other dense organic solvents. Ionic liquids have an effectively zero stagnation vapour pressure, as they do not exist as a gases and so do not evaporate at any pressure. Most common laboratory solvents (water, alcohols) cannot exist in vacuum without immediately evaporating until the chamber has reached equilibrium with the stagnation vapour pressure of the liquid. Static liquid surfaces can only exist where the external pressure is at least equal to the stagnation vapour pressure of the liquid. At room temperature, most common laboratory solvents have stagnation vapour pressures of thousands of Pascals. For example, at 20 C, water has a stagnation vapour pressure of 2.3 kPa and ethanol has a stagnation vapour pressure of 5.3 kPa. If the pressure around the liquid drops below the vapour pressure, the liquid will begin to boil. In the case of water, the energy lost in latent heat of vaporisation is sufficient to freeze the remainder. Despite these difficulties, there is substantial interest in introducing liquids to vacuum in a controlled and stable manner, without spoiling the vacuum. Techniques such as X-ray scattering and photoelectron spectroscopy usually require vacuum. To deploy these techniques to analytes in solution, a new method was devised. Liquid micro-jets are continuous filaments of fluid of diameter below 100 μ m. Their low surface area allows high vacuum to be maintained despite evaporation from the liquid surface. Such small diameter jets were originally developed to measure the photoelectron spectra of liquid water and other high vapour pressure liquids in vacuum [44]. Forcing a liquid under high pressure through an aperture with diameter on the order of few to hundreds of microns forms a liquid micro jet. This travels at high speed, and lands in a cryogenic or differentially pumped trap. With sufficient pumping speed, even a high vapour pressure liquid can be formed into a stable liquid surface in vacuum. Microjets represent a universal liquid template in vacuum.

2.2 DEPOSITION OF METALS INTO LIQUIDS

Samples of metal deposited into liquids, or co-deposited with liquids, were produced in a modified Edwards Auto 306 thin film coater, illustrated in figure 2.2.1. Before sputtering, the chamber was pumped to a pressure below 10^{-6} mbar. The coater was then switched to process, where the vacuum system feedback maintains an approximately constant pumping speed. Once this had stabilised, a needle valve gas inlet was opened slowly to allow a flow of argon (BOC high purity O grade argon.) The valve was opened until the pressure had stabilised at 5 × 10^{-3} mbar. The ratio of high purity argon to remaining atmosphere was therefore 5000 to 1. Atomic metal vapour was produced by argon ion sputtering in an atmosphere of roughly 10^{-3} mbar argon.

2.2.1 LIQUID JET OPERATION

For the aperture of our liquid micro-jet we used silica micro-capillary tubing of inner diameter 50 microns. The tubing was cut to a length of 35 ± 1 mm each time it was changed. After cutting, both ends of the capillary were inspected under an optical microscope for any damage to the inner walls. When cut correctly the face of the capillary is perfectly smooth. An imperfect cut showing damage to the inner capillary walls is unsuitable and a new capillary was cut. The capillary tube was fitted into an HPLC union (SGE Analytical) and sealed with a soft composite (SiltiteTM) ferrule. This setup is illustrated in Figure 2.2.3.



Figure 2.2.1: Diagram of the Edwards Auto 306 Coater, with added liquid jet system. This illustrates the pumping system below the cold trap; the highest achievable vacuum at each pumping stage; the liquid jet and gas pressure system; and the approximate layout of DC magnetron sputter head, liquid jet and cold trap.



ic of the SGE Analytical capillany fitting.

Figure 2.2.2: Schematic of the SGE Analytical capillary fitting. Fused silica capillary tube **(yellow)** is fed through the union fitting. When the union is tightened, the Siltite ferrule forms a leak-tight seal around the capillary.

The backing pressure was supplied by bottled argon (BOC, zero grade, 99.999 % pure) with a bottle pressure of 200 Bar. This was regulated down to a maximum working pressure of 70 Bar. The regulator, gas line, reservoir, and capillary assembly were all connected by SwagelokTM stainless steel fittings. A drilled blanking plug provided a gas line feed-through into the coater. For pressure and leak testing, the capillary assembly was removed and sealed with a SwagelokTM blanking plug. The system was then gradually pressurised to 100 bar, to give a 40 % safety margin over maximum working pressure. If there is any audible leaking or any visible deformation then the gas bottle is immediately sealed, the system is vented and then inspected. Any damaged or deformed components cannot be used. Once the system was pressurised to 100 Bar, the gas bottle was sealed. The regulator gauge was then inspected for any pressure decrease. If no pressure loss was visible, the coater was evacuated to below 5×10^{-5} mbar and the system was left for 10 minutes. If no further pressure loss was visible, then the pressure and leak test was successful. The Swagelok blanking plug can be replaced with the capillary assembly and the system is ready to use.

2.2.2 LIQUID JET CAPTURE

An externally cooled stainless steel cold trap was cooled by immersion in liquid nitrogen before insertion into the vacuum system. All cold traps and glassware were cleaned before use, first with Teepol detergent, then rinsed with distilled water and finally rinsed with isopropanol. The stainless steel cold trap was a cylinder of diameter of 50 mm, with an aperture of 38 x



Figure 2.2.3: Schematic of the stainless steel cold trap with dimensions. Image is not to scale.

30 mm bored in one side to allow the liquid jet and atomic vapour to enter (Figure 2.2.3). Before cooling, the steel cold trap was typically placed in a small glass petri dish for sample collection, then both were wrapped in foil. The foil prevented any deposition on the outside of the cold trap from entering the sample dish. The foil wrapped trap was then immersed in liquid nitrogen until the boiling from the metal surface had ceased, at which point the cold trap was at the same temperature as the liquid nitrogen. The cold trap was then placed into the coater, and the coater was pumped down to vacuum.

2.2.3 FLOW RATE

The liquid jet flow rate was calibrated by measuring the mass of liquid exhausted over a fixed time. A metal vessel was sealed with a clear adhesive "cling-film." The vessel was then weighed on a digital scale with minimum scale division of 0.1 milligram. This was then positioned so that the capillary nozzle pierced the film seal. The film seal minimised liquid evaporation during the experiment. The backing gas pressure was set at the bottle regulator before opening the gas line stop valve. Although the experiment was conducted in air rather than in vacuum, this only introduced a 1 Bar difference in exhaust pressure. The systematic error due to atmosphere was smaller than the measurement error in reading the regulator pressure gauge, which was ± 2.5 bar, half of the minimum scale division. After running the liquid jet for 5 minutes, the mass of the container was measured.

Measurements were taken at a range of pressures. Pressures were chosen based on the liquid properties and how jetting could be established. At low pressures, it was often difficult to establish jetting. At higher pressures, the jet could break up into a spray.

It was important not only to measure the flux of liquid, but to determine an appropriate predictive model for liquid jet flux. Some solvents would be unsafe to measure in this way (e.g. methanol and chloroform are both highly volatile and toxic.) The proposed model was the Hagen-Poiseuille law relating the pressure drop (ΔP) in a cylindrical tube (of length *L* and radius *R*) to the flux of liquid (flux = Φ) through the tube. The Hagen-Poiseuille equation is given by equation 2.1

$$\Phi = \frac{dV}{dt} = \frac{\pi R^4}{8\nu} \cdot \frac{\Delta P}{L}$$
(2.1)

Results are shown in figure 2.2.4. Empty points represent measurement data and straight lines are the predicted flux from the Hagen-Poiseuille equation. Values were calculated using liquid properties and experimental geometry. An excellent match can be observed for water and isopropanol. Ethanol shows the expected linear trend, however the gradient is less than expected. This could be due to evaporation over the course of experiment. Only small volumes were exhausted during the experiment, and if we assume that volume is proportional to area (as the liquid spread out entirely) then the evaporation would have been proportional to volume exhausted. This would have been proportional to volume exhausted. This would have been proportional to area is proportional to area as the gradient of the $\frac{p}{V}$ graph. There are also other possible sources of error, including "spraying" of the jet contributing to evaporative losses, measurement error in the capillary length.

The flow through the liquid jet generally obeyed the Hagen-Poiseuille law. When necessary, volumes of solvents and flow rates have been calculated from these results, favouring experimental data over theoretical. The plot for methanol only shows theoretical results, as it would not be safe to exhaust a methanol jet into the lab atmosphere.



Figure 2.2.4: Mean measured flow rate, **(shapes)**, and, **(lines)**, flow rate calculated from Hagen-Poiseuille law 2.1. The standard deviation around the mean was smaller than the shapes on the graph, so error bars were not plotted. Methanol is illustrated as a theoretical line only, as it would not be safe to exhaust methanol into the lab.

2.3 VAPOUR DEPOSITION

Metal atomic vapour was generated by argon ion sputtering. In this process, argon atoms are ionised in a continuous discharge and then accelerated into a metal target. The argon ions impacting a metal surface with sufficient energy will eject metal atoms from the surface. Neutral metal atoms can escape the argon plasma and travel outwards. If the pressure is sufficiently low then the trajectories can be considered nearly ballistic (mean free path is roughly equal to chamber dimension.)

2.3.1 Sputtering Parameters

The sputtering process has several key parameters. These are the accelerating voltage, the sputtering current and the pressure of sputtering gases. These parameters are linked, and it is non-trivial to disentangle them. However; general relationships are known from the literature.

Accelerating Voltage

The energy of the impacting ions is proportional to the accelerating voltage. The ions generated will be singly ionised. This means that for a given voltage, the kinetic energy of each particle will be equivalent to the accelerating voltage multiplied by the electronic charge. The energy of the impact then determines the magnitude of the following collision chain and the energy of ejected particles.

As the energy increases the probability of ejection of multiple atoms, or



Figure 2.3.1: Sputter power supply power and current output. The linear trend indicates that the accelerating voltage is approximately constant at 600 V, and hence that the ion energy is approximately constant at 600 eV.

even small clusters also increases. At energies of 600 eV (of the range measured in our experiment, Figure 2.3.1) it has been observed that for metals (specifically Cu and Ni) roughly 10% of the material emitted would be as dimers, and roughly 1% as trimers [45]. Wucher et. al. measured a smaller value of dimer and trimer yield for silver [46] at a 4.5 keV ion energy, although there is substantial uncertainties in making a direct comparison, as many larger clusters are emitted in the higher energy collisions. Maximum cluster yields in our experiment are estimated at 10 % Ag₂ and 1 % Ag₃.

ION YIELD

Many metal particles ejected will be ionised in the ejection process. However, these particles will also be accelerated back towards the metal target along with the argon ions. Yields of ejected metal ions have been measured for silver foils sputtered by 10 μ s pulses of 15keV [47]. The measured fraction of singly charged silver ions to neutral atoms was 10^{-4} . Given the much lower energies in our experiment (roughly 0.5 keV.) we would expect lower yields by several orders of magnitude. Nevertheless, this is of considerable consequence for further reactions when arriving in the jet. Metal ions may act as charge stabilisers, or to initiate chemical reactions with solvent molecules. However; we are unable to measure the ion yields in our experiments. We assume that the ion yield should be similar in experiments for a given sputtering voltage, current and total pressure. Any effect will be consistent across all samples.
Sputtering Current

The sputtering current maintains the flow of positively charged ions into the metal target, and of free electrons into the magnetron cathode. Hence, it determines the total number of ion impacts and therefore the overall rate at which material is sputtered from the target. The magnetron power supply delivers an approximately constant voltage (Figure 2.3.1). The current is therefore proportional to the power applied. The sputter rates for silver and silicon measured with a crystal thickness monitor at a distance of 0.25 m from the sputter head are shown in Figure 2.3.2. Sputter rates are linear with applied power, as expected.

Gas Pressure

The pressure of the sputtering gas determines the necessary discharge voltage to ignite a plasma. The pressure also has a non-linear effect on sputtering rate. The optimal pressure differs by material. Literature typically discusses sputter pressure in one of two contexts: optimising for sputter rate or deposited film quality, or cluster generation. At higher pressures, three body collisions allow metal atoms to grow into clusters, and their size is determined by the pressure of neutral gas and metal atoms.

The partial pressure of other gases is also very important in the sputtering process. The presence of other gases in the chamber can alter the chemistry of sputtered material, as well as redepositing material back onto the sputter target. Elemental or diatomic gases readily react with sputtered atoms. More



Figure 2.3.2: Measured sputter rates at 0.25 m of silver and silicon (nm/s) plotted against magnetron sputtering power (W)

complex molecules such as organics can be cracked in the plasma. Both the original molecules and breakdown products may then react with sputtered metal atoms. These reactions can take place in the gas phase, in the plasma, and on the surface of the sputter target. Reactions on the surface of the sputter target can rapidly build up a layer of non-conducting material which then slows the sputtering process. Obviously, the reactions can also produce compounds of the metal and any elements present in the gas.

When producing samples, we maintained all parameters constant as a default. For a limited set of experiments we varied the sputtering current to determine if there was a correlation with the rate at which material was deposited.

2.4 ANALYTICAL METHODS

2.4.1 Spectroscopy

The optical properties of materials are determined by their physical and electronic structure. For this reason the interaction of light with matter provides a useful tool to probe the internal structure of materials.

The wavelength of light correspond to energies and hence to the physical processes characteristic of these energy ranges.

Spectroscopic characterisation of materials was carried out using UV-visible, fourier transform infra-red (FTIR) and X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy.

2.4.2 ULTRAVIOLET-VISIBLE SPECTROSCOPY

Ultraviolet-Visible (UV-VIS) spectroscopy covers the range 1 eV to 6 eV. This range covers the near infrared, visible light and UV. This energy scale covers the typical electronic densities of states, electronic band structures and plasmon resonances in materials.

The spectrum of light from a mercury-halogen lamp is split with a diffraction grating and a monochromated beam is selected. This is then split and passed to a sample and reference detector. The signal output is Absorbance $A = log_{10} \frac{I_{sample}}{I_{reference}}$. The operation of the spectrometer is schematically illustrated in figure 2.4.1.

Spectra were recorded with a Thermo-Fisher EvolutionTM 220 spectrometer. Spectra were recorded at steps of 1 nm. with a spectral bandwidth of 1 nm. Samples were analysed in SuprasilTM quartz cuvettes from Hellma.

Spectra were fit and quantified using the fityk [48] software package. To ensure consistency in measurement of peak heights and widths, the simplest possible fitting protocol was used. A flat baseline was subtracted from the data. A single Gaussian peak was then fit to the data in the relevant range. For the silver plasmon resonance this was consistently in the range 300 -600 nm. Physically unrealistic fits (e.g. Gaussian mean with negative values) were rare, and were immediately discarded from data. Peak parameters were then extracted and used for analysis. Systematic errors with this technique were limited to slight under-estimates of the plasmon band width for very intense samples.



Figure 2.4.1: Schematic of the operation of a UV visible spectrometer.

Absorbance spectra of zinc oxide particles were analysed using the following relationships, valid for direct and indirect interband optical transmissions [49]:

 $\alpha h \nu = A(h \nu - E_g)^m$ for $h \nu > E_g$

and

 $\alpha h \nu = 0$ for $h \nu < E_g$

where A is a constant depending on details of the band structure, hv is the photon energy, E_g is the energy gap, and α is the measured optical absorbance. For an allowed indirect transition m = 2 and for an allowed direct transmission m = 0.5. Plotting $(\alpha hv)^{1/2}$ as a function of photon energy and extrapolating linear regions to the abscissa will yield the band gap E_q [49].

2.4.3 INFRARED SPECTROSCOPY

FTIR covers the range from 50 meV to 0.5 eV. This energy range covers the vibrational energies of many molecular bonds. Molecular vibrations refer to the oscillations of atoms within molecules. Infrared energy in this range is absorbed by molecular bonds at characteristic frequencies. It is possible to determine which molecular bonds are present in a sample and their approximate proportions. Slight shifts in bond positions and intensities can indicate change in chemical or physical environment. For example, molecules could be physisorbed or chemically bonded on a surface. These attachments then damp the oscillations and shift the measured wavenumber.

In an FTIR spectrometer, the beam is not monochromated. To disperse infrared light would require an impractically large optical arrangement. FTIR

dispenses with this requirement by recording data as an interference pattern. An imaging detector records the interference pattern between the sample and the reference beam. The path length is changed while the images are processed in instrument software. After several passes a spectra is recorded.

FTIR spectra were recorded using a Thermo-Fisher Nicolet is5 FTIR spectrometer. Spectra were acquired in attenuated total reflectance mode using a Diamond ATR crystal.

2.4.4 X-RAY PHOTOELECTRON SPECTROSCOPY

Photoelectron spectroscopy refers to the measurement of the energies of electrons ejected from a sample by photoelectric processes. Free motion of the electrons to the detector requires vacuum. Electrons are excited from the sample using ultraviolet or X-rays.

The X-ray source used in this work is a magnesium anode source. Electrons are accelerated into the magnesium anode by an acceleration voltage of 15-20 kV. These electrons have sufficient energy to eject the core level electrons (1s) from the atom. This vacancy is then filled by the transition of a higher shell electron to the 1s level. In this process a photon is emitted. By far the most probably transition in this system is 2p to 1s, which produces the Kalpha spectral line. The magnesium K-alpha line has a peak energy of 1253.4 eV [50].

The X-rays pass through a very thin aluminium shield between the source and the sample. This blocks most lower energy radiation. The X-rays also excite electrons from the metal shield, which provides a flood of electrons



Figure 2.4.2: Schematic energy diagram of X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy. Incident photoelectrons with energy $E_i = 1253.5 \ eV$ [50] arrive at the sample and excite electrons from the sample. A core level electron is ejected with kinetic energy $E_K = E_i - E_B$. Here, E_B is defined as the energy required to promote an electron from a bound state in an atom to the vacuum level.

which help with charge neutralisation on the sample.

The X-ray beam easily penetrates the sample to a depth of microns. Electrons are excited from core levels of atoms in the material and are ejected. Electrons are much more likely than X-rays to undergo scattering, so have a much shorter path length. For the purposes of understanding the signal in an XPS measurement, the inelastic mean free path (IMFP) is a key parameter. This is typically between 1-20 crystal lattice planes in the energy range 10-2500 eV [51]. Calculated values are based on estimated complex dielectric constants from optical data and elastic-peak photoelectron spectroscopy [51]. Figure 2.4.3 shows a 'universal curve' illustrating the relationship between electron energy and path length in materials. For the relevant energies in this investigation, 100 to 1000 eV, electrons have a path length between 1 and 10 nanometres. The electrons escaping the sample and reaching the detector must be from this surface layer.

The kinetic energy distribution of electrons ejected from each level has a sharp peak, corresponding to the core binding energy. There is then a continuum of lower kinetic energy electrons which have lost energy through interactions [52]. Example interactions are with electronic states within the atom (initial and final state effects,) collective effects in the material (plasmon or phonon interaction,) and scattering from atomic lattices.

Electron energies are measured using a hemispherical electron analyser. Electrons are focused and slowed by an electrostatic lens. The electrons entering the analyser are slowed to a constant acceptance energy, usually of tens of eV, in order that they can be curved around an analyser of diame-



Figure 2.4.3: Inelastic mean free path of electrons in material against electron energy. The universal curves plotted here are $IMFP = 538E^{-2} + 0.41(\frac{E}{2})^{\frac{1}{2}}$ for elements and $IMFP = 2170E^{-2} + 0.72(\frac{E}{2})^{\frac{1}{2}}$, based on Seah and Dench [53] using a monolayer thickness of $\lambda = 0.5 \ nm$

ter roughly 0.5 m. The analyser consists of two parallel hemispheres with a potential difference between them. The electrons follow a curved path and land on a strip of 7 silicon CCDs able to count single electrons. For a given potential difference, there will be a focus energy. Electrons having this energy will land on the central CCD, whilst those slightly above and below will land on the neighbours. By scanning through the pass energies, a complete spectrum is recorded.

Substrates for XPS were mounted on a molybdenum sample tray for loading into vacuum. The typical substrate used was HOPG, 9x3x3 mm wafer, high purity 0.8 degree spread (Pi-Kem). The HOPG was pressed into a piece of tape, and a layer of graphite was cleaved from the top when the tape was peeled away. The now cleaved wafer was then fitted into the sample holder and placed into vacuum as soon as the sample was prepared on the wafer.

The energies measured by the analyser are the kinetic energies (E_K) of ejected electrons. These can be related to the binding energies of electrons in the atoms (E_B) by $E_B = E_i(E_K + \phi)$, where E_i is the initial photon energy (1253.4 eV [50]) and ϕ is the detector work function, calibrated as 4.51 eV. The peak binding energies measured correspond to the core energy levels of atoms, which are unique to each element. XPS is therefore diagnostic of the elemental composition of the surface. However, features observable due to various energy loss mechanisms can also provide information about the chemical and structural environment.

The most substantial shifts observable in XPS spectra are charging shifts. Charging of a non-conductive surface can induce shifts up to hundreds of eV in measured binding energies. Charging can be observed by a change in measured binding energies as the sample spends more time under X-ray excitation.

Similarly, for small particles, there is an energy associated with particle charging [54]. This can be estimated from the energy of charging a spherical capacitor, and is plotted in figure 2.4.4. However, in practice, the energy shift measured in nanoparticles is smaller than this, and cannot be reliably used to deduce nanoparticle size [54].

The chemical environment of an atom can also have a strong effect on measured binding energies [54]. As electrons are ejected from an atom, they can interact with electrons in outer shells - those which are involved in chemical bonding. As the electron density around the atom is drawn outwards in chemical bonds the effective screening of the nucleus is reduced and so core level electrons are more tightly bound. Typically, the strength of the bond determines the chemical shift.

XPS spectra were fitted using fityk [48]. Gaussian peak shapes were used to avoid over-fitting errors with excessive parameters. XPS peaks are typically fit using a convolution of a gaussian and lorentzian peaks known as a voigt peak. The gaussian represents the instrumental broadening, whilst the lorentzian represents the lifetime broadening of the peak. In this work only gaussian fits were used. The low signal measured from very thin and dispersed nanoparticle films was such that the instrument could not be tuned to give a peak narrow enough to show a significant lifetime component to their width. Shirley background was subtracted from spectra in R statistics



Figure 2.4.4: Energy in (eV) to single charge a conducting sphere, against the sphere diameter (nm).

software using code in Appendix B.

XPS core level shifts in silicon 2p lines were fit using a method based on that of Yang et. al. [50]. Peak energies listed in Appendix A (6.1) were used to infer a shift of $1 \pm 0.05 \ eV$ per increase in oxidation state. A custom script in fityk was used to link 5 peaks together to represent Si0.Si¹.Si².Si³.Si⁴, with energies separated by $1 \ eV$, and linked widths.

2.5 MICROSCOPY

2.5.1 TRANSMISSION ELECTRON MICROSCOPY

Images were acquired in a JEOL 2100 microscope operated at 200kV, under a range of magnifications. Samples were prepared for TEM analysis by drop casting 2 μl of the nanoparticle solution onto a carbon film substrate (Agar scientific, S160).

2.5.2 SCANNING PROBE MICROSCOPY

All image series were recorded at ambient temperature, without heating. Images were recorded using a variable temperature AFM from Omicron Nanotechnolgy. This was operated in non-contact, constant force mode, all measurements were taken at room temperature. A 20 nm radius SiN tip was used (Mikromasch) with a resonance frequency of 307 kHz and a nominal stiffness of 40 Nm⁻¹. The vertical axis was calibrated on single and double step edges of the graphite, of 3.5 Å and 7 Å height respectively.



Figure 2.5.1: Lennard-Jones potential between two molecules or surfaces. This force arises from the interactions between induced or permanent dipoles.



Figure 2.5.2: Scanning probe techniques can acquire images from nanometer to atomic resolution. Atomic roughness of the tips is corrected for by the scanning mechanisms. In an AFM experiment, (left), the measured forces act between the entire tip and an area of the surface. The force can be modelled as a Lennard-Jones potential, (figure ??), where the interaction region (tip-surface distance) is of the same order as the tip radius of curvature. The force measured by the probe therefore comes from a large region of the surface. STM measures the tunnelling current between the tip and a conducting sample. This drops off exponentially with distance, meaning that the tunnelling current is between a single atom at the tip of the probe.

2.5.3 IMAGE ANALYSIS

AFm images were analysed using software packages WSXM [55] and Gwyddion [56]. TEM images were analysed using Gatan Digitalmicrograph software and ImageJ [57].

To measure size distributions from force microscopy measurements, images had a threshold applied to find islands. An example image is shown in figure 2.5.3. Software then retrieved the highest point in every island. By processing multiple images, a size distribution was built up.

Measured size distributions were fitted to a log normal distribution function (LNDF, equation 2.2) with mean \bar{x} and multiplicative standard deviation σ . Errors quoted were the average differences between the 68 % confidence intervals and the median, given by equation 2.3. Log normal distributions were fit using fityk.

$$LNDF(\bar{x},\sigma,A) = \frac{A}{\sqrt{2\pi}\ln\sigma} e^{\frac{(\ln x - \ln \bar{x})^2}{2\ln^2\sigma}}$$
(2.2)

$$\delta LNDF(\bar{x},\sigma) = \frac{\bar{x}}{2} \left[\sigma - \frac{1}{\sigma} \right]$$
(2.3)



Figure 2.5.3: Flood filling of AFM images. **(left)**, flood filled image, light blue represents the threshold (in this case, roughly 5 Å). **(right)**, original image of silver nanoparticles deposited on HOPG. The scale bars are 50 nm.

"If speaking is silver, then listening is gold." Turkish Proverb

3 Metal Atoms and Nanoparticles

METAL ATOMS AND SOLVENTS are easily mixed using many techniques. By depositing atoms directly onto a liquid jet, the reaction is greatly simplified compared to other methods. There are minimal impurities, there are no reagent by-products and the atoms are well dispersed. The atoms will be highly mobile within the solution. This system has been used to explore metal-solvent reactions and nanoparticle growth. In this chapter benchmarks will be established for some basic metal-solvent systems. Some general principles for understanding reactions in a broader sense will also be established.

The predominant metal studied in this chapter is silver. Silver is a noble metal, and its low reactivity ensures that it is likely to form metallic particles in most solvents. Sputtering of silver is well documented for film growth [58-60] and cluster formation [46]. It is a malleable metal, which greatly simplified cleaning of equipment and hence experimental turnaround time. Silver nanoparticles have a distinctive absorption peak in the visible spectrum, which is easily measured and also allows visual inspection of samples when produced. This absorption is due to the plasmon resonance of silver, which can be related to particle size [61-66], shape [64, 67, 68] and chemical environment [62, 67, 69-72]. A broad literature covers silver nanoparticle synthesis [8, 66, 73-77] for application as antimicrobials [74, 75, 78, 79], catalysts [66, 80, 81], and in sensors [82-85]. Finally, silver nanoparticles have been synthesised by physical methods: LASIS [19, 35, 86-88]. SMAD [89], sputtering onto ionic liquids [79, 90] and dense organic oils [79]. Silver represents a model system for this investigation.

3.1 INITIAL BENCHMARKING OF SILVER

The first samples of silver were produced allowing deposition of silver onto the cold trap exterior, interior and along the liquid jet. Liquid jets of ethanol and isopropanol were used. These alcohols were chosen for their low cost and for the ease of generating and sustaining the liquid jet. The liquid jet was captured inside the cold trap, and substantial solvent vapour also condensed on the exterior of the cold trap. When the sample was melted and collected, material from all cold trap surfaces was collected. The total mass deposition rate calculated for all silver impinging on or in the cold trap was $1.7\pm0.9\mu$ g/min. Taking into account liquid jet flow rates calculated from equation 2.1, the concentration of silver was estimated as 2.6 ± 1.1 mg/ml in ethanol, and 4.6 ± 1.9 mg/ml in isopropanol. These samples represent the highest con-

centration of silver produced using the liquid jet method.

Both samples had visible, macroscopic precipitates. Flakes and powder agglomerates were visible. The ethanol sample was a dark red, almost black. The isopropanol sample was transparent with a slight yellow tinge. UV spectra of the liquid phases were recorded within 5 minutes of sample production and are shown in figure 3.1.1 below. There is a dramatic difference in the measured absorbance between the isopropanol and ethanol sample. Repeat sample productions showed that silver rapidly formed large agglomerates in isopropanol and precipitated out of solution. Samples in ethanol showed much less agglomeration and a larger absorption peak was consistently recorded. With a good ability to stabilise silver particles, ethanol was chosen as a primary solvent for production of silver nanoparticles.

The plasmon resonance of silver in ethanol has a broad peak at 432 nm. This is consistent with silver nanoparticles with sizes of the order of 100 nm [66]. The peak asymmetry at higher wavelength indicates that there may be contributions to the plasmon resonance from the quadropole resonance of larger particles [66]. The baseline shows the presence of opaque material, such as silver particles with diameters greater than 300 nm. Particles with dimensions approaching the wavelength of the absorbed light are not expected to show plasmon resonance [68]. This confirmed that the metal atoms deposited into solvent could aggregate into nanoparticles. This also confirmed that with the correct conditions particles could be stabilised in solution.



Figure 3.1.1: UV-visible spectra recorded within 5 minutes of production. Spectra show silver sputtered into ethanol **(squares)**, and isopropanol **(circles)**. Samples were produced at the highest possible concentrations. Significant material precipitated from the isopropanol sample prior to measurement.

3.2 FURTHER BENCHMARKING: COPPER, ZINC AND SILICON

Samples were also produced in limited numbers for a small range of other metals and solvents. This allowed simple comparison of the behaviours of different materials. Silicon has been subject to previous investigations using related techniques [91-96]. Deposition of silicon into liquid or frozen water produces small [95, 96] silicon containing nanoparticles which exhibit blue fluorescence under UV light [94]. Investigation of silicon in this thesis is limited to a small run of nanoparticle solutions. These were produced and characterised for further investigation under AFM and STM. Two additional metals, copper and zinc, were also tested in a small run of samples. Copper is a noble metal with applications in catalysis [97] and solar cells [98]. Zinc is a moderately reactive metal which readily forms an oxide layer. Zinc oxide has been extensively studied and is well characterised [99]. This survey covers two noble metals, a transition metal and a semi-metal.

3.2.1 COPPER

Deposition of copper into water resulted in large ice crystals tinted with a pinkish deposit. This melted into a pink liquid. A UV-Visible absorption spectrum was recorded within 30 minutes of sample production. Figure 3.2.1 shows a plasmon resonance absorption peak characteristic of metallic copper nanoparticles at 590 nm. The flat absorption at lower wavelength is due to inter-band transitions [97]. The colouration present in the ice indicates that nanoparticles formed before the sample melted. This sample was produced



Figure 3.2.1: UV-visible spectrum of copper sputtered into water, recorded within 30 minutes of production.

using a separate, custom apparatus, which limited the copper generation to a cluster source. For the same reason, it was not possible to measure the deposition rate. Clusters were probably produced before capture in the jet. The resulting solution began precipitating a black soot almost immediately. This material then strongly adhered to any surfaces, including the sample vials. As this included the cuvettes used for optical spectroscopy, no further spectra were recorded over time.

Figure 3.2.2 shows photoelectron spectra of copper nanoparticles. Films were drop-cast from solution onto freshly cleaved HOPG within 2 days of sample production. Photoelectrons were excited with Mg K α photons with energy of 1253.4 eV. The spectrum is fitted with the reference values for the Cu(2p_{3/2}) peak in bulk copper and in copper oxide [98]. The instrument linewidth was calculated as roughly 0.6 eV from the operating manual.

3.2.2 ZINC

Zinc was sputtered from a high purity target (Lesker, EJTZNXX453A4. 99.995 %) inside the Auto 306 coater chamber. Zinc was co-deposited with a jet of ethanol, chosen as a test solvent for ease of sample production. Timed UV spectra are shown in Figure 3.2.3. A pronounced shoulder at the absorption onset is observable in all 3 samples, red shifting from 310 nm to 330 nm after 3 days aging, and eventually to 340 nm after 6 months. The typical, bulk, value of the zinc oxide band gap is 3.4 eV [99, 100], corresponding to optical absorption around 360 eV [99]. The measured absorption spectra are consistent with zinc being present in the form of zinc (II) oxide, ZnO. The



Figure 3.2.2: Cu($2p_{3/2}$) x-ray photoelectron peak of copper sputtered into water, recorded within 2 days of production. Incident photons are Mg K α , E = 1253.4 eV. Fit lines are the Cu($2p_{3/2}$) (red line) and O-Cu($2p_{3/2}$) (blue line).

blue-shift of the absorption spectra may be due to the known quantum size effect in ZnO nanoparticles [100, 101]. After sample production, and a repeat experiment, no further zinc samples were produced. Once a zinc sample had been produced, the coater dome was coated in a tough layer of zinc which resisted washing and required intense mechanical abrasion to remove. The difficulty of cleaning the glass dome and coater internal equipment led to the decision to cease production of zinc samples.

Tauc plots [49] of the zinc absorption spectra show that the optical band gap of the zinc/ethanol sample decreases with time. At t = 0 hrs, the band gap is 3.60 \pm 0.05 eV. By comparison with the measured band gaps in size controlled ZnO by Lin et. al. [100], particles as produced are smaller than 3.5 nm. The reduction of this band gap with time is a strong indication that the particles grow over time. By t = 70 hs, the bandgap has reduced to 3.45 \pm 0.05 eV, which would correspond to a particle size between 5-8 nm. Two weeks post production, fluorescence emission and excitation spectra were recorded. In figure 3.2.5, the fluorescence intensities are plotted against wavelength and energy.

The fluorescence emission peaks at 3.6 eV, which matches the initially measured optical band-gap from the Tauc plots. However, the emission from ZnO nanoparticles typically has an energy 0.1-0.2 eV lower that measured from the absorption onset edge [99, 100]. Similarly the excitation peak onset is 4 eV, higher than expected [100]. The simplest explanation for this is that the bulk of optical absorption is due to larger particles, larger than 5 nm. Meanwhile, fluorescence is from smaller particles, with sizes below 3.5 nm. Zinc oxide



Figure 3.2.3: UV-Visible absorption spectra of zinc sputtered into ethanol. The sample has been aged over months and spectra recorded at intervals.



Figure 3.2.4: Tauc plot [49] for direct band-gap of spectra shown in figure 3.2.3. Fits to linear regions are shown as dotted lines. Both plots show the same data but scaled to different regions to facilitate fitting.(right) Linear fit (green) to 0 hour spectrum intercepting at 3.60 ± 0.05 eV, (left) Linear fit (blue) to 70 hour spectrum intercepting at 3.45 ± 0.05 eV and (red), 3788 hours at 3.35 ± 0.05 eVS.

nanoparticles are formed with a broad size distribution which changes over time, with the smallest particles showing deep blue fluorescence.

3.2.3 SILICON

The inspiration for the liquid jet concept was born out of the work of Brewer et. al. [94], who co-deposited sputtered silicon with water vapour. This produced a cluster solution showing deep blue fluorescence. The first liquid jet experiments were developed to further test the mixing of silicon atoms and water. Silicon-liquid interactions have been extensively investigated by Yazdanfar [91]. For this work, a limited number of samples were produced, sputtering silicon into a water jet. Characterisation provided an example of semi-metal interactions in the liquid jet as a counterpoint to the metals. Furthermore, this thesis also covers the dynamics of silicon nanoparticles deposited on HOPG surfaces, produced by the same methods.

Silicon was sputtered from a p-doped silicon target (Lesker, EJTPSIX503A2, 99.999% pure) and deposited into the cold trap with a jet of liquid water (AnalaR NormaPur, max 1 ppm dry residue).

UV -VISIBLE ABSORPTION OF SILICA NANOPARTICLE SOLUTIONS

Comparison of the UV-vis spectra of the silica nanoparticle solutions produced by both production methods shows comparable results. Neither show strong absorption until an edge at 250 nm. The sample produced by co-deposition shows a slightly stronger onset at 300 nm. However, this spectrum is not an ideal comparison, as the co-deposition sample was produced four years



Figure 3.2.5: Fluorescence emission and excitation spectra of zinc co-deposited in ethanol, recorded one week after sample production. Count rates are plotted against wavelength, (left) and energy, (right). Sharp peaks in the excitation spectrum correspond to the Raman shifts of ethanol.



Figure 3.2.6: Comparison of UV-vis spectra of silicon sputtered into a water jet, as produced and after two years aged. The spectra corresponds to sample WS4 in Figure 3.2.8



Figure 3.2.7: UV-visible spectra of silicon mixed with water by two different methods: (black squares), produced by Brewer et. al. [94] co-depositing silicon and water vapour, (blue circles), produced by deposition of silicon with a liquid jet.

earlier than the liquid jet sample. A comparison between the jet sample as made, and two years on is shown in figure 3.2.6, where it is clear that an intense peak at 265 nm has evolved. This feature is present all four separate samples produced by the same method. Figure 3.2.8 shows water-silicon samples (WS) 1 to 4 measured after two years. The same peak has developed in all samples, with differing intensities. The 'shoulder' at this position in sample WS2 suggests that the onset edge at 300 nm in figure 3.2.6 is the same absorption band.

INFRA-RED ABSORPTION OF SILICA NANOPARTICLE SOLUTIONS

The Infra-Red absorption spectra of these same samples, after aging, is shown in figure 3.2.9. Peaks common to both samples are associated with OH bonds. 3100-2600 cm⁻¹ [102], the band from 1050-1150 cm⁻¹ is the O-Si-O antisymmetrical stretch [103], from 1150-1300 cm⁻¹ is O-Si-O symmetrical stretch [103] and the band from 800-900 cm⁻¹ with Si-H and Si-OH bonds [103, 104]. The bands at 1350 cm⁻¹ and 1650 cm⁻¹ are tentatively ascribed to oxygen rich states in silica. These peaks have been identified by Tremblay et. *al.* in the spectrum of SiO₃ produced by matrix isolation FTIR studies of SiO₂ and Si reactions with O₂ molecules [105]. These peaks are not present in water dried on the spectrometer crystal. The most likely alternative for these peaks is that they represent some form of hydrocarbon contamination, as these bands are common for various $Si - C_xH_y - (OH)_z$ species [104]. However, these peaks do not appear in the spectrum of silicon sputtered into alcohols [91].



Figure 3.2.8: All aged spectra from a series of silica nanoparticle solutions, WS1-4. All four samples were produced by deposition of silicon into a liquid jet of water. All samples were produced with identical conditions other apart from silicon sputter rate.



Figure 3.2.9: Infra-Red of silicon mixed with water by two different methods: (black squares), produced by Brewer et. al. [94] co-depositing silicon and water vapour, (blue circles), produced by deposition of silicon with a liquid jet. The dotted black lines show the major peaks common to both samples, at 1000 cm^{-1} , 1350 cm^{-1} and 1650 cm^{-1} . The broad peak at 3100 - 3600 cm^{-1} is known to be from hydroxyl (OH) groups [102], whilst the peak at 1000 cm^{-1} is from silicon dioxide [104].

The oxidation state of the silicon can be further established by photoelectron spectroscopy. Shifts in core levels indicate the different coordination of silicon atoms [50, 106]. Silicon peak energies and widths are linked in the fitting process. Both fits are consistent with SiO_x particles, with a further shift of approximately +1.5 eV from literature values [50, 106, 107]. The good agreement in positions of *Siⁿ* peaks between the samples indicates that this fitting method is robust, and that the binding energy shifts are consistent between particles. The presence of elemental silicon can be ruled out, that is, there is no evidence for Si fully bonded with other Si atoms. The liquid jet sample shows higher Si³ and Si⁴ peaks. Highly oxidised silicon nanoparticles, for example, SiO_x where x > 2, would be consistent with these results and the peak at 1650 cm^{-1} , which is also higher for the liquid jet sample in figure 3.2.9.

AFM

AFM measurements were taken of one hundred times dilution of a silicon in water sample. Using flood filling to find islands over a threshold height, size distributions were built up from the peak height of these islands. Figure 3.2.13 shows that the silica particles have a size distribution peaking at a height of 0.9 ± 0.1 nm. We take this measurement to be a good approximation of the nanoparticle diameters.

The co-deposition of silicon with a liquid jet of water has produced small silica nanoparticles, of size 0.9 ± 0.1 nm. These particles have a probable



Figure 3.2.10: Comparison of XPS spectra and Gaussian fits to components of different silicon oxidation states. **(black squares)**, produced by Brewer et. al. [94] codepositing silicon and water vapour, **(black circles)**, produced by deposition of silicon with a liquid jet. The solid black lines are the summed fit. Silicon oxidation states are fit using the protocol described in the methodology chapter. The liquid jet sample shows a higher proportion of higher oxidation states of silicon.



Figure 3.2.11: Dilution series measurements of silver co-deposited with an ethanol liquid jet. Sample was diluted with the same pure ethanol as used in production. The absence of major changes in peak shape and the linear decay in absorbance shows that particle-particle interactions are minimal in the sample.

stoichiometry of SiO_x , where x > 2. Co-deposition with a liquid jet likely leads to higher oxidation of clusters than co-deposition with water vapour.

3.3 CHARACTERISATION OF SILVER NANOPARTICLES

The bulk of the effort of this thesis was directed towards the investigation of silver as a model system to characterise the liquid jet in more general terms. The plasmon resonance of silver was the initial focus of this investigation. Dilution series measurements of the plasmon resonance as exemplified in Figure 3.2.11 showed that the peak position and shape was consistent with dilution. This effectively ruled out particle - particle interactions, such as red shifting of the plasmon resonance for small separations (typically less than 10 nm for Au nanoparticles [68, 108]).

Detail of the 'shoulder' region is shown in Figure 3.3.1. Three distinct peaks are noticeable here. The absorption 'shoulder' at wavelengths less than 350 nm scales with the concentration. This scaling indicates that this is a feature of the sample rather than a systematic artefact in the spectra. To elucidate the nature of this 'shoulder', spectra of silver co-deposited with other solvents were examined.

3.3.1 SILVER IN WATER

Silver co-deposited with a water jet did not show a plasmon resonance. However, rather than an absorption shoulder at low wavelengths, figure 3.3.2 shows three intense peaks at 235 nm, 275 nm and 306 nm. These peaks can be tentatively identified with the UV-visible absorption peaks for the



Figure 3.2.12: Non-contact atomic force microscopy. (a) detail of small nanoparticle clusters. Scale bar is 50 nm. (b) broad area scan. Scale bar is 100 nm.



Figure 3.2.13: Size distribution of silica nanoparticles from heights measured in AFM imagery. Data was generated by flood filling AFM images to threshold height, then recording the maximum height of each island.


Figure 3.3.1: Illustration of the distinct peaks in the UV 'shoulder' of the silver nanoparticle in ethanol solution. (a), Plasmon resonance peak. (b), Shoulder region. Three peaks are fit by 245 nm (5.0 eV), 261 nm (4.74 eV) and 276 nm (4.48 eV). (c), Integrated absorption peaks of plasmon and shoulder region recorded from dilution series silver in ethanol sample. Both the plasmon and the shoulder region scale with concentration.



Figure 3.3.2: UV-Vis spectrum of silver samples produced by co-deposition of silver with a liquid jet of deionised water.

small silver clusters Ag₁. Ag₂. Ag₃. Ag₄ and Ag₅ [109, 110], which have been identified in matrix isolation studies of silver clusters in neon, in the ice of codeposited of silver vapour and water vapour [111], in aqueous ionic solutions of silver [23, 112], in cryophotoclustering of Ag/Ar matrices [110] and by polyacrimide gel electrophoretic separation of phases in nanoparticle solutions produced by reduction of silver thiolates [113]. The assignment must remain tentative as energies will be shifted in liquid water relative to those spectra measured in the cited experiments. Moreover, absorption lines due to neutral clusters can overlap those due to ionised clusters [24, 109, 110, 112]. It is likely that these clusters exist as ions, as this would stabilise them. This spectrum is stable over a timeframe of months.

3.3.2 XPS

Photoelectron spectra of silver containing samples are shown in figure 3.3.3. Obviously the signal from silver in water is negligible and is at the limit of detection. However, this is consistent with silver present in small (n = 1-5) clusters, which would be very thinly and widely dispersed. Spectra of silver in alcohol containing samples show peaks corresponding to metallic silver. The sample of silver in isopropanol had an intensity three times greater than in ethanol and over thirty times that of silver in water.

3.3.3 Size of Silver Particles

The sizes of silver nanoparticles were measured by both AFM and TEM. Data for particles produced in different solvents are summarised in figure 3.3.5.



Figure 3.3.3: 3d peaks in XPS spectra of silver samples drop cast on HOPG. Spectra were recorded from samples produced with isopropanol, ethanol, water and an ethanol-water mix. The noticeable variation in noise between samples is due to strong variation in signal between samples. Solid lines are Gaussian fits to data. Due to the very low signal, the fit to silver in water was only possible for Ag3d5/², the more intense of the 3d states. Alcohol containing samples match canonical values for Ag3d5/² = 368 eV and Ag3d³/² = 374 eV [63].

These size distributions exclude particles with diameter on the order of ten standard deviations larger than the median. Very large particles will disturb the tip during the imaging process. Despite this, the large areas scanned in AFM measurements (typically around 1x1 μ m) mean that measured size distributions are representative of the whole sample.

Comparing samples produced in ethanol with isopropanol, there is a fourfold increase in median particle size. This provides evidence of the solvent dependency on particle sizes. From figure 1.1.1, lowering the surface energy of a particle will lower the critical nucleation radius, ultimately lowering the median size of particles produced¹. Solvents can be ranked isopropanol « ethanol < ethanol + water + citrate < water in terms of the inverse particle size, and hence lowering of the silver-solvent interface energy.

In the silver-in-water sample, there is a bimodal size distribution. The distribution with the smaller peak size could represent the Ag_n clusters, whilst the larger sizes are a phase of larger nanoparticles. Importantly, such a phase can be present in the silver/ethanol samples, but simply be impractical to analyse due to the prevalence of larger particles.

Transmission electron microscope images were recorded of silver samples drop cast onto ultra-thin carbon grids. Size distributions were calculated from semi-automatic thresholding of TEM images. Sizes as measured by TEM are in good agreement with those measured in AFM, as evidenced by the top left frame in both figures 3.3.5 & 3.3.7. All TEM images are samples produced

¹intuitively, lowering the critical energy and radius will lead to a larger number of particle nuclei, and hence spread the total material between a larger number of particles, which will grow to a smaller size.



Figure 3.3.4: Non-contact AFM images of: **(a)**, silver nanoparticles produced in ethanol. Scale bar is 400 nm. **(b)**, produced in water. Scale bar is 400 nm. **(c)**, produced in isopropanol. Scale bar is 200 nm.



Figure 3.3.5: Size distributions of silver particles generated by semi-automatic analysis of AFM imagery. Distributions are fit with a log-normal function (equation. 2.2). Count rates are included for indication of signal to noise ratio of fit results.

with ethanol as the solvent. Samples are produced both by deposition only onto the liquid jet, as well as co-deposition. Silver concentration was varied over 3 orders of magnitude by varying the sputter rate and the area available for deposition². The peak nanoparticle sizes in each distribution are plotted against the estimated concentration, showing a logarithmic trend. This is largely expected from the log-normal distribution. The total volume of the lognormal distribution LNDF(x) is proportional to ln(x). Therefore, an exponential increase in volume will only lead to a linear increase in particle radius. This shows that the mass of silver sputtered into the sample is linearly related to the mass of nanoparticles represented in these distributions.

3.3.4 The Silver Plasmon Resonance

Timed measurements of samples were limited to UV-Vis spectra due to the experimental limitations inherent in microscopy and analysis in vacuum, with high turnaround time and analysis required to extract useful information. However, timed UV measurements, as shown in figure 3.3.8, raised more questions than answers. Peak intensity decreases with time, however, there is insufficient evidence for a trend. A further question is raised by comparison of shaken and unshaken samples. The increase of plasmon intensity above the initial value in some shaken samples shows that precipitated material can de-aggregate and re-disperse. It also shows that both precipitation and aggregation must be factors in the decrease of the plasmon intensity, but

these cannot be easily deconvoluted.

 $^{^{\}rm 2}{\rm Area}$ was varied by changing between deposition onto the jet only and deposition into the cold trap.



Figure 3.3.6: Transmission electron microscopy of silver nanoparticles produced in ethanol. (a) scale bar is 50 nm. (b&c) scale bar is 20 nm.



Figure 3.3.7: Size distributions of silver particles generated by semi-automatic analysis of TEM imagery. (top left), size distribution from the same sample as (top left) in figure 3.3.5. (bottom right), median size of log-normal distribution plotted against log_{10} (silver concentration in mg/ml). Straight line is log fit to data (weighted by fractional error) with equation $3.14 + 0.62log_{10}$ (*Concentration*).



Figure 3.3.8: Plasmon peak relative intensity $H(t)/H(t_{(0)})$ plotted against time at which spectra were recorded. These values are derived from 30 spectra of 6 samples of silver in ethanol. Outliers where $H(t)/H(t_{(0)}) > 1$ are shaken samples where macroscopic precipitates have re-dispersed / re-dissolved. All spectra have had a linear baseline subtracted (removing absorbance of 'black' macroscopic particles which do not contribute towards the plasmon resonance).

The peak position and width were similarly poorly correlated with time, and it was not possible to draw useful conclusions from these measurements. However, it was possible to produce a measure of peak shape. Plotting the peak height against the half-width showed that these lay along a straight line, figure 3.3.9 which represents a constant plasmon peak shape. Data from ten silver in ethanol only samples were plotted, spanning three orders of magnitude in concentration and three orders of magnitude in time. This provides strong evidence that the plasmon resonance peak of silver-ethanol samples is independent of sample concentration and aging. If this evidence is valid, then the silver in ethanol system represents a stable and reproducible system. However, fitting the same data but without subtraction of a flat baseline is shown in Figure 3.3.10. This does not show a trend, and suggests that the observed linear trend may only be an artifact of fitting.

3.4 SUMMARY AND PROSPECTS

Vapour deposition with liquid jets has been demonstrated to be a synthetic route towards nanoparticles of metals and metal oxides. Nanoparticles produced by this method have a log-normal size distribution.

The production of silver nanoparticles has been demonstrated in several solvents, and it has been shown that the solvent choice strongly influences the size of stable nanoparticles. Sizes produced range from nanoparticles of median diameter 10 nm, to small silver molecules of as few as two atoms. Measurement of particle sizes by atomic force microscopy and transmission electron microscopy has shown good agreement between these methods. It



Figure 3.3.9: Plotting the plasmon resonance peak heights against half-width **(blue diamonds)**, for 32 spectra recorded from 10 samples of silver in ethanol. The range of concentrations of silver spans three orders of magnitude. Spectra are included from co-deposition with a jet and from deposition only onto the jet. Spectra are included from immediately after production up to years post production. The solid line is a linear fit to the data (including outlier) and constrained to the origin.



Figure 3.3.10: Plotting the plasmon resonance peak heights against half-width, without any baseline subtraction. Original spectra are those from Figure 3.3.9, but without baseline subtraction prior to gaussian fit.

has been shown that, for ethanol, the median particle size is proportional to the logarithm of the silver concentration.

Major themes will be continued throughout the following chapters of this thesis. Figure **??** includes additional data for samples produced in ethanolwater mixed solvents. The exploration of mixed solvents and mixed particles will make up the next results chapter.

Sample	AFM Median (nm)	AFM S.Dev. (nm)	TEM Median (nm)	TEM S.Dev. (nm)
Silver Ethanol (i) (co-deposition)	3.03	0.68	3.30	1.52
Silver Ethanol (ii) (co-deposition)	2.56	0.68	-	-
Silver Ethanol (i) (jet only)	-	-	1.93	0.70
Silver Ethanol (ii) (jet only)	-	-	1.80	1.00
Silver Ethanol (iii) (jet only)	-	-	1.88	0.81
Silver Ethanol (iv) (jet only)	-	-	2.76	1.66
Silver Ethanol (citrate added)	2.56	0.33	-	-
Silver Water (small particles)	0.69	0.09	-	-
Silver Water (large particles)	1.92	0.31	-	-
Silver Isopropanol	8.27	5.71	-	-

"The salt of any interesting civilization is mixture." Antonio Tabucchi

4 Colloidal Particles and Interactions

COLLOIDAL SOLUTIONS of silver nanoparticles in ethanol have been characterised in the previous chapter. The silver-ethanol system is robust against changes in silver concentration, showing only a linear change in median particle size with order of magnitude increases in concentration. The plasmon peak shape, as measured by the ratio of peak height to width, remains approximately constant with changing concentration and sample ageing. The dramatic changes in observed absorption spectra and particle sizes with different solvents suggests that the chemical environment has the most substantial effect on the formation of particles.

To understand how the chemical environment influenced the particles, particles were produced in mixed solvents, such as those in ethanol - water mixes. Figure **??** provided some tentative evidence for a different peak shape in these samples. To test the idea that the chemical environment is critical to particle properties, experiments were conducted mixing samples of silver in ethanol with varying concentrations of citric acid. Concentrations of citric acid ranged from 5 mM to 1 M, UV-Vis spectra were recorded at intervals from immediately after mixing to several days later, and samples of different molarities and ages were heated to determine reaction dynamics. Much like the early work with silver and ethanol, no consistent trends were identifiable relating molarity, aging or heating to any trends. Again, plotting the peak height against half-width proved more informative. This is summarised in figure 4.0.1, showing that peak shape is changed compared to silver in ethanol. The reduced gradient indicates that the plasmon peak is narrower in this system.

4.1 Synthesis of Composite Particles

Colloidal silica nanospheres of diameter 20 nm (LUDOX HS-30) were chosen as a material for combined deposition in the liquid jet. There are many grades of colloidal silica available, but this sample was chosen as it could be easily dispersed in methanol, which is an easy solvent for use in the liquid jet. The colloidal silica as supplied is in a solution of 30% SiO₂ by weight. The silica particles have a negative surface charge, and are stabilised with sodium counter ions. The maximum concentration possible for LUDOX in methanol is 5% silica by weight. Higher concentrations than this gel the mixture.

Before production of solutions with silica present. silver was co-deposited with a pure methanol jet. This produced a suspension of dark red coloured macroscopic aggregates. These could be dispersed by agitation, however



Figure 4.0.1: Comparison of ethanol only data with data for silver samples in ethanol with added citric acid. Data is from 33 spectra recorded of 12 samples at 10 different concentrations of citric acid in ethanol. The concentration of silver in each sample was maintained constant.

they would immediately aggregate again. Adding a small amount of LUDOX (0.1%) to this solution stabilised the silver particles, and after sonication the solution had a spectrum very close to that of silver in ethanol, with a broad peak at 450 nm. A fraction of the un-stabilised silver in methanol was left for 22 hours. At this point it could not be re-dispersed by agitation. However, adding 0.1% LUDOX followed by sonication regenerated a plasmon resonance at 440 nm.

Solutions were produced of LUDOX in methanol at 1%, 0.1% and 0.01% SiO₂ concentrations for loading into the liquid jet. Experiments were carried out with the lowest concentration of silica first to avoid cross contamination of solvents in the reservoir. Before and after the experiment the liquid jet apparatus was flushed with water and methanol, and the resulting wash solution was examined using FTIR spectroscopy in order to confirm that minimal silica was present.

4.1.1 UV-VIS CHARACTERISATION

These samples had a unique evolution over time. Of all samples as yet produced, there had been no systematic evolution over time. However, samples with added silica showed a distinct change. Immediately after production, the solutions had a colouration similar to silver - ethanol samples. This is illustrated in the t = 0 lines in figure 4.1.1. The plasmon resonance began to change immediately, and visibly to the naked eye. For 0.01 % and 0.1 % silica, material began to precipitate within 1 day. The t = 1 day line confirms this. Sample intensities decreased by half and one third for 0.01 % and 0.1 % sam-



Figure 4.1.1: Absorption spectra of 20 nm colloidal silica (LUDOX HS-30) dispersed in methanol and co-deposited with silver. From top to bottom: 0.01 % SiO/wt, 0.1 % SiO/wt, 1 % SiO/wt. Spectra were recorded at intervals over several months.

ples respectively. The spectrum then began to narrow and blue-shift until reaching a peak position of 410 nm.

The final peaks of all samples are more intense than the starting peaks. This is consistent with narrowing of the peak shape in the sample with 0.01 % silica. However, the intensities of absorption peaks in the more silica rich samples cannot be explained only by peak narrowing. In these samples, a substantial amount of liquid had been lost from the sealed sample container.

The UV-Vis spectra measured of all samples where colloidal silica was present in solution are plotted in figure 4.1.2. This includes data from all three concentrations of silica. All three samples were produced with the same sputtering conditions, so should have approximately the same silver content. Immediately after production dilutions of 50 % and 10 % in pure methanol were produced. Absorption peaks for these spectra are included in the plot. All timed measurements are included. These points lie on a separate line than the silver in ethanol samples, but there is substantial overlap.

4.1.2 CATALYTIC PROPERTIES

To determine the cause of liquid loss in samples, some were transferred to different vials, and a set of control vials were set up containing only methanol. Over several weeks these confirmed that no mass was being lost due to evaporation. Eventually, despite being re-diluted with methanol, the sample with the greatest amount of silica dried out to form a hard crust.

To determine the mass loss in these samples, they were weighed several times over a period of days. The crusted sample was crushed into pow-



Figure 4.1.2: Comparison of ethanol only plasmon shape line with shape of spectra of silica silver hybrid particles. Data plotted are taken from 82 spectra of 3 different solutions, covering 3 orders of magnitude of silica content, all having (approximately) the same silver content. 3 different dilutions of each sample are included, as are timed measurements up to 100 days after production.



Figure 4.1.3: Plot of the plasmon shape of samples where colloidal silica has been added to methanol before. **(black squares)**, and after, **(maroon triangles)**, co-deposition with silver. Straight lines represent linear fits to the data. Graph shows a small section of data, hence the apparent discrepancy between pre-production linear fit and displayed data.



Figure 4.1.4: Plot of the loss in mass of methanol evolved from samples of silica particles decorated with silver nanoparticles. Data for sample with 0.01 % silica is not plotted as the rate was too small to be visible on this scale. The mass loss of 1 % silica only in methanol was comparable to the scale precision.

der. 50mg of this was placed in a fresh vial and topped up with 5 mg of methanol. Because it had dried and could be weighed apart from solvent, and lost methanol at the highest rate, this provide the most accurate values of mass lost over time and was more thoroughly investigated. The weight of the empty vial, vial with powdered material and vial topped up with methanol were measured using a scale with precision \pm 0.1 mg. The mass loss over time is plotted in figure 4.1.4 below. LUDOX colloidal silica in methanol was used as a control measurement.

The mass loss varied as with the mass of silica in the samples. In figure 4.1.6, the mass loss is plotted as a fraction of the mass of silica present in the sample. In the crushed sample, this could be known to within 5 % (the approximate fraction of mass which was silver.) In other samples the error was much higher, as it compounded the errors in silica dilution, injected liquid flow rate and evaporation rate in vacuum. The measured rates of mass loss show reasonable agreement for the three concentrations of silica and provide strong evidence of a reaction caused by silver modification of the silica spheres. The most likely reaction is a catalytic reaction with the methanol. Silver is an important catalyst for partial oxidation of methanol to formaldehyde [80, 81] and Ag - TiO₂ catalysts have been used for photocatalytic evolution of hydrogen from methanol and water. The linear fit to data in figure 4.1.6 corresponds to a reaction rate of 1.65 \times 10-7 mol g⁻¹ s⁻¹ of methanol. If this is converted to a turnover fraction, representing the number of reactions per active catalytic site per second. The precise reaction or reactions are unknown, oxidation of methanol leads to the formation of gases (either formaldehyde



Figure 4.1.5: Peak plasmon resonance maximum (red circles) and predicted resonance, compensating for the increased concentration as methanol is lost (black squares). The correction is a linear scaling to the expected intensity had no liquid been lost from the sample. (left), 0.1 % silica. (right), 1.0 % silica. The increase in plasmon peak absorbance can be accounted for by narrowing of the peak.

or carbon dioxide, hydrogen and water vapour) and so could lead to all the material evaporating.

4.1.3 MICROSCOPY

Transmission electron microscope images were acquired of silver-silica samples with concentrations of 0.01 % silica and 1 % silica. In all images examined, more than 99.6 % of silver particles were on top of or adjacent to a silica sphere. Whilst these are dried films, and the binding or silver and silica in the liquid phase cannot be certain, the difference in plasmon resonance peak position, shape and the catalytic properties of the solutions strongly suggest that the silver is bonded to the silica. Moreover, the similar reaction rates for both colloidal particles and the dried silver / silica powder also provides strong evidence that composite particles are formed in solution.

Size distributions of silver particles attached to silica spheres were acquired semi-automatically in software. However, at least half of the contribution to particle measurement was manual, as it was difficult to appropriately discriminate between silver particles and silica overlaps using image thresholds or local thresholding algorithms. Manual measurement was made by measuring an ellipse around the particle and taking the avergae of the axes as the particle diameter. Figure 4.1.8 shows all available TEM size distributions, including data from figure 3.3.7.

The size distributions of silver nanoparticles attached to LUDOX in methanol is of the same order of magnitude as silver particles in ethanol. The median diameters and silver concentrations in these samples follow a diameter to



Figure 4.1.6: Plot of the loss in mass of methanol relative to the total mass of catalyst in solution for all three concentrations of silica pre-production. A line is fit to all three sets of data for 1%, 0.1% and 0.01% silica content.



Figure 4.1.7: TEM image of silver decorated silica nanoparticles. Scale bar is 100 nm.

log(concentration) dependence. It is uncertain whether this is simply a coincidence, given the dramatic effects that solvent seemed to play in particle sizes seen in figure 3.3.5.

It is also worth noting that the change in the plasmon resonance in silver / silica samples could well be explained by narrowing of the size distribution. The silica spheres provide a template on which silver atoms and clusters can nucleate and ripen.

4.2 EVALUATION AND REFLECTIONS

This chapter has demonstrated the general principle that the shape of the plasmon resonance of silver nanoparticles produced by mixing silver atoms and alcohols is primarily governed by the solvent chemistry. The size distributions of silver nanoparticles on the surfaces of silica nanospheres also seems to have confirmed the proportionality between the median particle size and log concentration.

There is an apparent contradiction between the small changes in median size between nanoparticles, and the fairly large changes in plasmon resonance shape between different sample types. For example, the median size of nanoparticles on silica is approximately equal to the median size of particles in ethanol with a similar total concentration of silver. This implies that the correlation between median particle size and plasmon resonance is weak. The plasmon resonance intensity is primarily proportional to the mass of the nanoparticle. In a log-normal size distribution, the mass distribution peaks at a higher value than the diameter, and is also broader. This will have a multi-



Figure 4.1.8: Size distributions of silver particles produced in ethanol compared with distributions of silver particles attached to silica spheres in methanol. Straight line fit, (bottom right), is $3.44 + 0.78log_{10}$ (concentration). Samples suspended in methanol were separately diluted (1 % SiO/wt × 10000, 0.01 % SiO/wt × 100) to reach an ultimate concentration of 0.0001 % SiO/wt. Low resolution scanning electron microscopy had determined that this was the appropriate concentration to achieve less than one monolayer coverage of silica. The diluted samples were then drop-cast onto ultra-thin carbon TEM grids.



Figure 4.2.1: Plot of the plasmon shape of samples produced by deposition into or along with a liquid jet. All sample types with sufficient spectra showing a plasmon resonance are included. Every series includes data from at least two unique samples (produced separately in different experimental production runs) and measured at different ages, concentrations, dilutions and chemistries as applicable.



Figure 4.2.2: Plot of data originally plotted in Figure 4.2.2, but without flat baseline subtraction. This shows almost the opposite trend to Figure 4.2.2. However, different production chemistries plot in distinct regions.

plying effect on the broadening of the plasmon resonance. A small change in median diameter can have a large effect on the mass distributions.

Ultimately the direct interpretation of plasmon peak position and shape is complicated. Increase in homogeneous linewidth [61, 114] and red shifting [69] of the silver plasmon peak with decreasing size have been reported for nanoparticles smaller than 10 nm, which would correlate well with the plasmon resonances and particle sizes we observe.

The liquid jet system represents a platform for introduction of metals to pure solvents which is largely independent of the physical parameters of the system such as sputter rate. liquid jet flow rate and exactly where and how the atoms are mixed with liquids. The chemistry of the solvent is the key parameter to understanding the product. Intriguingly, the method of generating silver atoms is itself largely independent of the solvent chemistry. This separation of atom generation from solvent chemistry represents an interesting experimental platform, which has been shown to produce particles stable in solution ranging from large nanoparticles to few atom clusters. Evidence for these clusters will be the focus of the next chapter.

"We adore chaos because we love to produce order."

M.C. Escher

5 Nanoparticle Arrays on Graphite

Drop casting of nanoparticle solutions on highly oriented pyrolytic graphite surfaces has been the standard preparation for analysis by atomic force microscopy throughout this thesis. To measure particle sizes, solutions had to be diluted until dried films were less than one monolayer. Then roughness information from the sample could be related to particle height. During the course of routine experimental work it was observed that samples in water did not dry evenly on the graphite surface. This was likely due to the high surface tension of water causing the water to gather in droplets and create high local concentrations of nanomaterials in the dried droplet location or in 'coffee cup' rings [115].

To avoid this behaviour, nanoparticles suspend in water were diluted with isopropanol. Dilutions factors greater than 10:1 showed excellent wetting of the graphite surface. However, when analysing samples produced in water and diluted in isopropanol, novel surface structures were observed. Large areas of aligned stripes were formed on the HOPG surface. An example is shown in figure 5.0.1. These arrays could be well ordered over sizes greater than 1 micron, were of row heights of 0.5-0.7 nm, with line separations normally a uniform value of a few nanometres.

Analysis carried out during this investigation showed that well ordered linear arrays could be reliably carried out by drop casting solutions of silica nanoparticles, isopropanol and water onto HOPG. Previously published work by the author has established that alignment of the striped areas reflected the threefold symmetry of the graphite surface [116]. This work showed how stripe arrays could be templated on superlattices [116] generated by underlying Moiré patterns commonly observed in HOPG [117, 118]. Superlattice templated growth or adsorption has been observed in metal nanoparticles [119-125] and C_{60} [126]. The linear organisation of metal nanoparticles matching the substrate crystallinity has also been observed for gold nanoparticles on the H-passivated Si(111) surface [127]. In this investigation, substantial differences were observed between the behaviour of arrays aligned along different axes of the moiré pattern [116]. Arrays aligned along the zig-zag direction were highly stable, and were observed growing in discrete steps, illustrated in figure 5.0.2, where individual particles attach and detach from the array line tips. Conversely, samples which had grown along the armchair direction in the Moiré pattern were observed growing in intensity homogeneously along the length, and disappearing very rapidly as shown in Figure 5.1.1.

Silicon in water samples produced using the liquid jet were diluted with



Figure 5.0.1: Arrays of silica clusters, produced by co-deposition of silicon with water vapour [94]. The original sample has been diluted 15 times with isopropanol. Arrays are approximately 0.5 nm high base to peak, with line spacing of 5.5 nm. Line spacing is related to the angle between arrays. The angular deviations from 60° between arrays ψ is related to line spacing D by $D = \frac{\alpha}{2sin(\frac{\psi}{2})}$. Typically two angles are measured $0 \pm \psi$. In this array averaged value of ψ over multiple measurements was 2.6°, corresponding to a line separation of 5.4 nm. The scale bar is 100 nm.



Figure 5.0.2: Step-wise growth of linear cluster arrays. Scale bar is 50 nm. Figure is adapted from [116]. Sample is the same as that used for Figure 5.0.1.

isopropanol and drop cast onto freshly cleaved HOPG, before imaging with both AFM and STM. Stripe arrays were visible in both imaging modes 5.0.3, confirming both that stripe arrays are present in liquid jet samples as well as in samples produced by the method of Brewer *et. al.*. The reproduction in STM of images seen in AFM is an excellent confirmation of the presence and morphology of these structures. Higher resolution images and image series were acquired in both imaging modes, however, data analysis of these new images was not possible in a reasonable timeframe.

5.1 MEASUREMENT OF NANOPARTICLE ARRAY DYNAMICS

These prior results implied that phase changes were taking place, analogous with crystallisation, melting and evaporation. These phenomena were studied further by analysis of image series showing changes in array sizes and structure. All images analysed for growth and dynamics of arrays were produced by the method developed by Brewer et. al. [94]. Samples were analysed at a constant temperature. However, the bulk temperature of the substrate does not necessarily correspond to the temperature of the surface under analysis as the interaction of the scanning probe tip with the surface transfers energy to the sample.

5.1.1 LINEAR GROWTH

Growth along lines was observed in many samples such as that shown in Figure 5.1.2. This figure is part of a series of 32 images. The length of the lines was measured in each image, and the results are summarised in figure 5.1.3.


Figure 5.0.3: Sample of silicon deposited with a liquid water jet. **(left)** AFM image of stripe pattern formed from silica diluted 15 times in isopropanol. **(center)**. STM height map of different region on the same sample, **(right)**, the same image but measuring current rather than z-height. Scale bars are 100 nm. Note the good match of line spacings in both AFM and STm images.



Figure 5.1.1: Fluid-like growth of linear cluster arrays. Scale bar is 100 nm. Figure is adapted from [116]. Sample is the same as used in figure 5.0.1.

For all three lines, the rate of growth is very nearly linear, except for line one at t > 20 hours. In figure 5.1.3 right, we see that both Line 2 and Line 3 have a constant growth rate with line length. However, Line 1 shows an increasing growth rate with length, after 20 hours had passed.

In the case of linear growth, we can assume that growth is taking place by addition of material only at the ends of the line, otherwise the rate would increase with the line length. Also, lines 1 & 2 are 'pushing' a larger particle at the end of the arrays. There will be a greater barrier to growth represented by the energy to push the larger particle another step forward. The larger particle may block material from adding at the tip of the line. Line one shows a higher growth rate, consistent with the idea that the particles at the tips of lines 1 & 2 are slowing growth. In Figure 5.1.3 (bottom) new material can be seen actively joining line 1 at the tip. In this image series there is no clear indication of why the line growth sped up. However, growth proportional to the line length shows that new material is arriving on the whole line length. As no increase in width is obvious in the images, this material may have very high mobility on the line surface, transporting it rapidly to the tip. Alternatively, the line may be undergoing collective growth: that is, each segment of the line is both expanding and being displaced by the expansion of neighbouring segments.

5.1.2 Area Dissolution

Large arrays were observed in many samples, with differing degrees of stability. Arrays typically appeared and disappeared on timescales of hours. A



Figure 5.1.2: AFM microscope image from a series showing growth along the length of arrays. Scale bar is 500 nm. Time t is in hours. **(bottom)** series of images illustrating growth of line 1; joining of dispersed material travel along an aligned trajectory. Sample was produced with the same method as used in figure 5.0.1 [94].



Figure 5.1.3: Growth of linear structures, either single lines or arrays. (left), total length growth over scanning for hours. At t=0, scanning began on this region, whilst growing lines are plotted from when they appear in the scan region. (right), Individual growth step over 0.725 hours plotted against the total line length grown.

representative set of arrays was chosen for analysis, primarily as it had the longest unbroken set of stable images. These arrays are illustrated in figure 5.1.4. At the start of imaging, all four arrays are shrinking. Array areas were measured by flood filling where possible, and by manual outlining when thresholding was not possible.

The measured areas of arrays are plotted against time in figure 5.1.5. All four arrays are steadily decreasing in area at a constant rate. Array 3 shows a 'kink' where the rate temporarily increases. The images corresponding to these times are shown in figure 5.1.4. (bottom row). A small hole-like defect emerges from the array. This is visible in the original array, and remains in the HOPG surface after the array withdraws from around it. Material around this defect is lost very rapidly, almost in one step at t = 3, and for the following steps the area drops at a higher rate. It is likely that this defect temporarily increases the rate of material loss from the array.

The linear rate of material loss from these clusters shows that the rate is not dependent on the array size. Only as array 4 is almost completely gone does the rate of material loss increase substantially. If the rate is not dependent on the size (either area or perimeter) then we can conclude that material leaving the arrays is diffusing away at a constant rate. The rate at which material leaves the array can then be identified as a limiting diffusion rate. Material must diffuse away from the array at a minimum rate in order to be consistent with the measure loss of array area. This diffusion rate can be measured in nm²s⁻¹. Array 2 shows almost double the loss rate than other arrays. This could be due to the larger particle in the centre of the array. The



Figure 5.1.4: Arrays of nanoparticles dissipate over time whilst scanning continues. Circled Time t is in hours. Upper scale bar is 500 nm. Lower scale bar is 250 nm.



Figure 5.1.5: Area of stripe arrays over time in hours.

larger particle has a stronger interaction with the AFM tip than the particles in the array (hence the greater height.) This would transfer energy to the array, effectively heating it.

5.1.3 Large Nanoparticle Volume Loss

The total volume of larger clusters (heights > 1.25 nm) was measured by flood filling. Any material lost from the arrays could have re-deposited on larger clusters. If that was the case, then the above theory about cluster heating would be invalid (as clusters would have to be higher temperature than the surrounding area.) It would also provide evidence for where material was transferred. The total volume of clusters is plotted against time in figure 5.1.6. Both number and volume show a very slight decrease, albeit with substantial error.

5.1.4 ARRAY INFILL

Finally, the filling of holes in the centre of an array was analysed. The chosen region for analysis is shown in figure 5.1.7. A large hole in the array, between two nanoparticles is filled in with new material that organises to extend the array. As the array grows, segments of the hole are cut off and separated. Hole areas were measured by flood filling below the height of the surrounding arrays. The measurements are summarised in figure 5.1.8.

This figure illustrates three major aspects of the infilling of holes within this array. The first is that, in line with measurements of other systems, the filling is linear with a constant rate. However, there is a discontinuity at



Figure 5.1.6: Total volume of large clusters and islands over time. Linear fits show a slight decrease in total volume (error in gradient = \pm 100 %), and no increase.



Figure 5.1.7: A large hole defect in an array is bounded by two larger nanoparticles (left), this defect is filled in with material which builds up and extends the array, holes are left around the upper nanoparticle (middle). A thresholded image, showing the hole between the particles and those around the uppre nanoparticle (right). Note that the holes are at the same level as the substrate in the bottom right corner of all three images. Scale bar is 50 nm.



Figure 5.1.8: Area (top), perimeter (middle) and (bottom), number of separate holes evolving over time in a hole defect in a cluster array.

around 120 hours, where the area drops substantially, before the hole area stabilises and no further infilling takes place. Secondly, the perimeter of the holes changes via rapid discontinuities and otherwise remains approximately constant. Thirdly, the discontinuities in the perimeter occur at the same time as the number of holes changes.

The linear rate of filling indicates that this process is predominantly diffusion led - although this is less certain than the results for array dissipation, as the perimeter remains constant for most of the process. The constant perimeter can be understood by considering piecewise filling of the hole by small clusters. A small added particle will cause a linear a change in area, but the net change in perimeter will depend on the position of added particles (figure 5.1.9). This will hold as long as new particles preferentially grow in array positions.

The increase in the number of holes as the holes stabilise also suggests that the holes contain defects. A mismatch defect between two arrays end to end would prevent particles from filling in the holes.

5.1.5 COMPARISON OF DIFFUSION RATES

Diffusion rates from line growth, array dissolution, hole filling inside arrays and from large cluster volume loss were recorded. The diffusion rate in array and hole area changes is simply the rate of change of area. In the case of the clusters, an area was calculated by dividing the volume by the perimeter. Line growth was calculated by multiplying the line growth rate by the width of the line. For each set of measurements, this area was summed, and the gradient



Figure 5.1.9: The change in perimeter with addition of a single particle depends on the particle location. A particle attaching to a wall will result in a net increase in perimeter. A particle attaching in a corner results in no net change to perimeter. A particle filling a vacancy will result in a net loss in perimeter. For discrete attachment and detachment events in a linear array the approximation of a square is appropriate.

of a linear fit to data was taken as the rate of change of area.

The data is summarised in table 5.1.1. Errors quoted are calculated from the linear fit to the data, however the rates quoted are only estimates of the true diffusion rates. They obviously represent limiting values. Material must be able to diffuse at these rates, else the array dissolution or hole filling would slow down. Diffusion rates of nanoparticles in this system have been measured by Koç [128], and are in good agreement with the order of magnitude of measured diffusion rates in this work. A qualitative assessment of the hole filling arrays in the same work described the linear cluster arrays as having liquid like properties, and measurements of the random walk of nanoparticles on the HOPG surface provided strong evidence for a two dimensional cluster gas constrained on the surface [128].

The data summarised in table show three distinct order of magnitudes for three different phenomena - mass lost from large nanoparticles and islands has a diffusion rate of order 10^{-4} nm²s⁻¹. Hole filling, and hence self diffusion within arrays is of order 10^{-2} nm²s⁻¹. This corresponds well with a model of line growth by self diffusion of material along and inside the linear structures in figure 5.1.3. Finally, the rate of dissolution of arrays has a rate of order $1 nm^2s^{-1}$. This suggests the intriguing possibility that we observe three separate phases, analogous to solid, liquid and gas, in the silica cluster / HOPG surface system.

Finally, we show some new evidence that suggests that ultra-small clusters may be commonly produced with the liquid jet synthesis technique. Samples of silver co-deposited with an ethanol liquid jet, estimated concentration $8.3 \pm 3.7 \times 10^{-1}$ mg/ml, were diluted 5 times in ultra-pure ethanol and drop cast onto HOPG. Spaced between islands of large nanoparticles, figure 5.1.10 shows arrays of ultra-small particles filling the available HOPG surface. These

Sample	Rate nm^2s^{-1}	Statistical Error nm^2s^{-1}
Large clusters	4.7×10^{-4}	3.6×10^{-4}
Hole filling	2.1×10^{-2}	4.7×10^{-4}
Line 1	1.7×10^{-1}	4.3×10^{-2}
Line 2	4.5×10^{-2}	1.1×10^{-2}
Line 3	6.6×10^{-2}	1.7×10^{-2}
Array 1	2.5	3.5×10^{-2}
Array 2	2.8	1.7×10^{-1}
Array 3	5.9	1.1×10^{-1}
Array 4	1.6	9.7×10^{-2}

Table 5.1.1: Table of diffusion rates measured from AFM measurements of silica clusters on HOPG surfaces



Figure 5.1.10: Stripe arrays observed in a silver ethanol sample drop cast onto HOPG. Large silver nanoparticles are present on the surface in agglomerates. Thin, aligned layers of ultra-small particles are spread between the larger islands. Scale bar is 200 nm

particles may possibly be identifiable with the $\mbox{Ag}_{\mbox{n}}$ clusters shown in chapter

З.

"The more fondly we imagine something will last forever, the more ephemeral it often proves to be." Iain M. Banks, Excession

6 Discussion and Conclusions

THIS THESIS BEGAN WITH A QUESTION, what happens when atoms of material directly mix with a liquid? I have attempted to answer this by studying the end products of the reaction, nanoparticles of silver and silicon. I have also studied the dynamics of some of these particles on surfaces, providing further evidence for the fundamental processes at work.

The growth of nanoparticles in solution is a complex and diverse field. Moreover, the stable particles formed are not truly fixed states. Instead, they are commonly in a metastable equilibrium, with exact size, structure and properties in constant flux. This equilibrium is dependent on almost every parameter of the system studied. Temperature, concentration, solvent, dissolved material, pH, the nanoparticle material and surface structure, exposure to light, all can profoundly affect the state of particles in solution. This thesis has shown that the atomic vapour co-deposition with a liquid jet is a robust method for generation of nanoparticles of metals and metal oxides. With no ingredients other than metals and solvents, fluorescent zincoxide, metallic silver, metallic copper, highly oxidised silica clusters and small silver clusters $Ag_{2 < n < 5}$ have been produced.

The relationship between loading of material into the jet and the nanoparticle size has been explored. Sizes of metallic silver nanoparticles have a log-normal distribution. The median size of silver nanoparticles deposited in ethanol increases linearly with the logarithm of the concentration of silver mixed in the jet. This relationship apparently holds over three orders of magnitude. However, most important factor in the size of silver particles produced is the solvent used for production. Solutions in water, ethanol and isopropanol had median sizes of roughly 2, 3 and 10 nm respectively.

The size distributions and stabilisation do not appear to follow classic models for nucleation, growth and ripening. It is possible that the origins of the size distribution lie in the distribution of sputtered neutral clusters and ions.

Solvent choice may also determine what gas phase reactions are possible. However, investigating this is beyond the scope of this thesis.

The relationship between the plasmon resonance in metallic silver nanoparticles and the particle size and age is not clear. However, the ratio of plasmon peak height to width is approximately constant for a specific solvent or solution chemistry over three order of magnitude changes in silver concentration and time since sample production. Remarkably, it is possible to dramatically change the optical properties of these solutions a long time after production.



Figure 6.0.1: Recent experimental data provides evidence for a spectrum of stable small silicon / silica clusters generated by deposition of silicon into an ultra-pure ethanol jet. This could be a phase of clusters analogous to those present in silver samples.

as shown by samples of silver in ethanol with added citric acid.

The most important factor in determining the properties of particles of produced in a liquid jet synthesis reaction is the chemistry of the solvent or solution used. In fact, the product seems remarkably insensitive to the physical parameters of the synthesis. This shows a profound advantage of this method, it can take advantage of the enormous control and flexibility offered by chemical syntheses, but with the purity offered by vacuum technology, and free from limitations such as solubility of precursors and impurities in reagents. A direct application has been demonstrated: the formation of silver-silica heterogenous catalysts.

Studying these particles on surfaces has provided evidence for a phase of ultra-small particles, for which liquid jet synthesis may be ideal. There is evidence for an ultra-small phase in both silver and silica, from both microscopic and spectroscopic data and evidence for metal-solvent combinations which can improve selectivity for these phases.

Finally the study of silica nanoparticles on surfaces provided some evidence to support the hypothesis of a cluster fluid existing on these surfaces, with three phases analogous to solid, liquid and gas, and diffusion rates separated by 2 orders of magnitude for each phase.

Sputtering onto liquids has already been established as an effective and simple route towards metal nanoparticles. Bimetallic particles and exotic hybrids can be easily achieved [43]. To date, these techniques have been limited to dense oils, ionic liquids and other low vapour pressure liquids. Our work shows that liquid micro-jets can enable deposition into high vapour pressure solvents such as alcohols. This represents a qualitative step forward in physical nanoparticle synthesis. With the full range of solvents, metals and semiconductors being available, synthesis options are vast. Moreover, solvents can be chosen to enable any desired material to be dissolved. We anticipate the liquid jet technique inspiring new possibilities in synthesis and leading towards the development of entirely new materials.

Some systems, such as supported catalysts [97] and fluorescent labels [129], gain functionality by addition of a small number of metal atoms. The liquid jet is ideal for enabling these syntheses, allowing material to be dissolved and atomic materials to be deposited without additional chemicals such as reducing agents or stabilising ligands complicating the synthesis.

Using only metal atoms and solvent molecules must be the simplest starting point for a synthesis of metal particles in liquids. By providing an experimental platform to realise this concept, we open the door to systematic exploration of the fundamentals of colloidal synthesis and enable future applications. Vapours of metals, alloys, ceramics and semiconductors can be readily produced in vacuum. The deposition of these into a wide range of liquids will result in the development of new nanomaterials.

References

- [1] Hongjun You, Shengchun Yang, Bingjun Ding, and Hong Yang. Synthesis of colloidal metal and metal alloy nanoparticles for electrochemical energy applications. Chemical Society reviews, 42:2880-904, 2013.
- [2] Samuel E. Lohse and Catherine J. Murphy. Applications of colloidal inorganic nanoparticles: From medicine to energy. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 134:15607-15620, 2012.
- [3] Dongguo Li, Chao Wang, Dusan Tripkovic, Shouheng Sun, Nenad M. Markovic, and Vojislav R. Stamenkovic. Surfactant removal for colloidal nanoparticles from solution synthesis: The effect on catalytic performance. ACS Catalysis, 2:1358-1362, 2012.
- [4] Tapan K. Sau, Andrey L. Rogach, Frank Jäckel, Thomas a. Klar, and Jochen Feldmann. Properties and applications of colloidal nonspherical noble metal nanoparticles. Advanced Materials, 22:1805-1825, 2010.
- [5] Erik C. Dreaden, Alaaldin M. Alkilany, Xiaohua Huang, Catherine J. Murphy, and Mostafa a. El-Sayed. The golden age: gold nanoparticles for biomedicine. Chemical Society Reviews, 41(7):2740, 2012.
- [6] Yuliang Wang and Younan Xia. Bottom-up and top-down approaches to the synthesis of monodispersed spherical colloids of low melting-point metals. Nano Letters, 4(10):2047-2050, 2004.
- [7] Jörg Polte. Fundamental growth principles of colloidal metal nanoparticles - a new perspective. Crystal Engineering Communications, 17(36):6809-6830, 2015.
- [8] Yugang Sun. Controlled synthesis of colloidal silver nanoparticles in organic solutions: empirical rules for nucleation engineering. Chemical Society reviews, 42(7):2497-511, apr 2013.
- [9] Yadong Yin and a Paul Alivisatos. Colloidal nanocrystal synthesis and the organic-inorganic interface. Nature, 437(7059):664-70, sep 2005.
- [10] Younan Xia, Yujie Xiong, Byungkwon Lim, and Sara E. Skrabalak. Shapecontrolled synthesis of metal nanocrystals: Simple chemistry meets complex physics? Angewandte Chemie - International Edition, 48:60-103, 2009.

- [11] Yun Tang and Min Ouyang. Tailoring properties and functionalities of metal nanoparticles through crystallinity engineering. Nature materials, 6(10):754-9, oct 2007.
- [12] LM Liz-Marzán and I Lado-Tourino. Reduction and stabilization of silver nanoparticles in ethanol by nonionic surfactants. Langmuir, 7463(22):3585-3589, 1996.
- [13] ZS Pillai and PV Kamat. What factors control the size and shape of silver nanoparticles in the citrate ion reduction method? The Journal of Physical Chemistry B, 108:945-951, 2004.
- [14] Nguyen T K Thanh, N Maclean, and S Mahiddine. Mechanisms of nucleation and growth of nanoparticles in solution. Chemical Reviews, 114(15):7610-7630, 2014.
- [15] Xun Wang, Jing Zhuang, Qing Peng, and Yadong Li. A general strategy for nanocrystal synthesis. Nature, 437(7055):121-4, sep 2005.
- [16] a. a. Ashkarran. Metal and Metal Oxide Nanostructures Prepared by Electrical Arc Discharge Method in Liquids. Journal of Cluster Science, 22(2):233-266, apr 2011.
- [17] DC Tien, CY Liao, JC Huang, and KH Tseng. Novel technique for preparing a nano-silver water suspension by the arc-discharge method. *Reviews* of Advanced Materials, 18:750-756, 2008.
- [18] Vincenzo Amendola and Moreno Meneghetti. Laser ablation synthesis in solution and size manipulation of noble metal nanoparticles. Physical chemistry chemical physics, (11):3805-3821, 2009.
- [19] Daniel Werner, Shuichi Hashimoto, Takuro Tomita, Shigeki Matsuo, and Yoji Makita. Examination of silver nanoparticle fabrication by pulsedlaser ablation of flakes in primary alcohols. *Journal of Physical Chemistry* C, 112(5):1321-1329, 2008.
- [20] Marcelo M. Mariscal, J. Jesús Velázquez-Salazar, and Miguel Jose Yacaman. Growth mechanism of nanoparticles: theoretical calculations and experimental results. Crystal Engineering Communications, 14(2):544, 2012.
- [21] X C Jiang, W. M. Chen, C Y Chen, S X Xiong, and A B Yu. Role of Temperature in the Growth of Silver Nanoparticles Through a Synergetic Reduction Approach. Nanoscale Research Letters, 6(1):1-9, 2011.
- [22] David D. Evanoff and George Chumanov. Size-Controlled Synthesis of Nanoparticles. 1. "Silver-Only" Aqueous Suspensions via Hydrogen Reduction. The Journal of Physical Chemistry B, 108(37):13948-13956, sep 2004.
- [23] BG Ershov, E Janata, and A Henglein. Growth of silver particles in aqueous solution: long-lived" magic" clusters and ionic strength effects. The Journal of Physical Chemistry, pages 339-343, 1993.

- [24] T Linnert and P Mulvaney. Long-lived nonmetallic silver clusters in aqueous solution: preparation and photolysis. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 112(12):4657 - 4664, 1990.
- [25] Marek Grzelczak and Luis M Liz-Marzán. The relevance of light in the formation of colloidal metal nanoparticles. Chemical Society Reviews, 43(7):2089-97, 2014.
- [26] Jean-christophe Valmalette, Zhenquan Tan, Hiroya Abe, and Satoshi Ohara. Raman scattering of linear chains of strongly coupled Ag nanoparticles on SWCNTs. Scientific reports, 4:5238, 2014.
- [27] Leif P Olson. David R Whitcomb. Manju Rajeswaran. Thomas N Blanton, and Barbara J Stwertka. The simple yet elusive crystal structure of silver acetate and the role of the Ag - Ag bond in the formation of silver nanoparticles during the thermally induced reduction of silver carboxylates. Chemistry of Materials, 18(6):1667-1674, 2006.
- [28] Jie Zheng, Yong Ding, Bozhi Tian, Zhong Lin Wang, and Xiaowei Zhuang. Luminescent and Raman active silver nanoparticles with polycrystalline structure. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 130(32):10472-3, aug 2008.
- [29] Brian L Cushing, Vladimir L Kolesnichenko, and Charles J. O'Connor. Recent advances in the liquid-phase syntheses of inorganic nanoparticles. *Chemical Reviews*, 104(9):3893-3946, 2004.
- [30] Sophie Laurent, Delphine Forge, Marc Port, Alain Roch, Caroline Robic, Luce Vander Elst, and Robert N Muller. Magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles: Synthesis, stabilization, vectorization, physicochemical characterizations and biological applications. Chemical Reviews, 108(6):2064-2110, 2008.
- [31] Victor K La Mer and Guy M Pound. Kinetics of Crystalline Nucleus Formation in Supercooled Liquid Tin. Journal of the american chemical society, 74(10):2323-2332, 1952.
- [32] Haohong Duan, Dingsheng Wang, and Yadong Li. Green chemistry for nanoparticle synthesis. Chemical Society reviews, 44(16):5778-5792, 2015.
- [33] K J Klabunde, H. F. Efner, L Satek, and W. Donley. Preparation of an extremely active magnesium slurry for Grignard reagent preparations by metal atom-solvent cocondensations. *Journal of Organometallic Chem*istry, 71(3):309-313, 1974.
- [34] Vincenzo Amendola, Gian Andrea Rizzi, Stefano Polizzi, and Moreno Meneghetti. Synthesis of gold nanoparticles by laser ablation in toluene: Quenching and recovery of the surface plasmon absorption. Journal of Physical Chemistry B, 109(49):23125-23128, 2005.

- [35] Vincenzo Amendola, Stefano Polizzi, and Moreno Meneghetti. Free silver nanoparticles synthesized by laser ablation in organic solvents and their easy functionalization. *Langmuir*, 23(12):6766-6770, 2007.
- [36] Savka Stoeva, Kenneth J Klabunde, Christopher M Sorensen, and Iovka Dragieva. Gram-Scale Synthesis of Monodisperse Gold Colloids by the Solvated Metal Atom Dispersion Method and Digestive Ripening and Their Organization into Two-and Three-Dimensional Structures. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 124(10):2305-2311, 2002.
- [37] Alexander B Smetana, Kenneth J Klabunde, and Christopher M Sorensen. Synthesis of spherical silver nanoparticles by digestive ripening, stabilization with various agents, and their 3-D and 2-D superlattice formation. Journal of Colloid and Interface Science, 284:521-526, 2005.
- [38] Alexander B Smetana. Gram Quantities of Silver and Alloy Nanoparticles: Synthesis through Digestive Ripening and the Solvated Metal Atom Dispersion Assembly, and Opticl Properties. PhD thesis, Kansas State University, 2006.
- [39] Heberton Wender and LF de Oliveira. Ionic liquid surface composition controls the size of gold nanoparticles prepared by sputtering deposition. The Journal of the American Chemical Society, 114(27):11764-11768, 2010.
- [40] Heberton Wender, LF de Oliveira, and AF Feil. Synthesis of gold nanoparticles in a biocompatible fluid from sputtering deposition onto castor oil. Chemical Communications, 46(37):7019-21, oct 2010.
- [41] Heberton Wender and RV Gonçalves. Sputtering onto liquids: from thin films to nanoparticles. J. Phys. Chem. C., 115(33):16362-16367, 2011.
- [42] Tsukasa Torimoto, Ken-ichi Okazaki, Tomonori Kiyama, Kaori Hirahara, Nobuo Tanaka, and Susumu Kuwabata. Sputter deposition onto ionic liquids: Simple and clean synthesis of highly dispersed ultrafine metal nanoparticles. Applied Physics Letters, 89(24):243117, 2006.
- [43] Heberton Wender, Pedro Migowski, Adriano F. Feil, Sérgio R. Teixeira, and Jairton Dupont. Sputtering deposition of nanoparticles onto liquid substrates: Recent advances and future trends. Coordination Chemistry Reviews, 257(17-18):2468-2483, 2013.
- [44] Manfred Faubel, Björn Steiner, and J. Peter Toennies. Photoelectron spectroscopy of liquid water, some alcohols, and pure nonane in free micro jets. The Journal of Chemical Physics, 106(22):9013, jun 1997.
- [45] H Gnaser and H Oechsner. Emission-angle integrated yields of neutral clusters in sub-keV-energy sputtering. Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section B: Beam Interactions with Materials and Atoms, 58(3-4):438-442, 1991.

- [46] A Wucher, M Wahl, and H Oechsner. Sputtered neutral silver clusters up to Ag18. Nuclear Inst. and Methods in Physics Research, B, 82(2):337-346, 1993.
- [47] C Staudt, R Heinrich, and a Wucher. Formation of large clusters during sputtering of silver. Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section B: Beam Interactions with Materials and Atoms, 164-165:677-686, apr 2000.
- [48] Marcin Wojdyr. Fityk: A general-purpose peak fitting program. Journal of Applied Crystallography, 43(5 PART 1):1126-1128, 2010.
- [49] Jian-hong Qiu, Peng Zhou, Xiao-yong Gao, Jia-ni Yu, and Song-you Wang. Ellipsometric Study of the Optical Properties of Silver Oxide Prepared by Reactive Magnetron Sputtering. Journal of the Korean Physical Society, 46(June):269-275, 2005.
- [50] D.-Q. Yang and JN Gillet. Room temperature oxidation kinetics of Si nanoparticles in air, determined by x-ray photoelectron spectroscopy. Journal of Applied Physics, 97(2):024303, 2005.
- [51] CJ Powell and A Jablonski. Evaluation of calculated and measured electron inelastic mean free paths near solid surfaces. J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data, 28(1):19, 1999.
- [52] Sven Tougaard. Quantitative XPS: non-destructive analysis of surface nano-structures. Applied surface science, 100:1-10, 1996.
- [53] M. P. Seah and W. A. Dench. Quantitative electron spectroscopy of surfaces: A standard data base for electron inelastic mean free paths in solids. Surface and Interface Analysis, 1(1):2-11, 1979.
- [54] Paul S Bagus, Eugene S Ilton, and Connie J Nelin. The interpretation of XPS spectra: Insights into materials properties, 2013.
- [55] I Horcas, R Fernández, J M Gómez-Rodríguez, J Colchero, J Gómez-Herrero, and a M Baro. WSXM: A software for scanning probe microscopy and a tool for nanotechnology. Review of Scientific Instruments, 78(1):013705, jan 2007.
- [56] David Nečas and Petr Klapetek. Gwyddion: an open-source software for SPM data analysis. Central European Journal of Physics, 10(1):181-188, nov 2011.
- [57] Michael D. Abràmoff, Paulo J. Magalhães, and Sunanda J. Ram. Image processing with imageJ. Biophotonics International, 11(7):36-41, 2004.
- [58] Yeon Sik Jung. Study on texture evolution and properties of silver thin films prepared by sputtering deposition. Applied Surface Science, 221(1-4):281-287, 2004.
- [59] N Marechal, E Quesnel, and Y Pauleau. Silver thin films deposited by magnetron sputtering. Thin Solid Films, 241:34–38, 1994.

- [60] Rand Dannenberg, Eric Stach, Joanna R Groza, and Brian J Dresser. TEM annealing study of normal grain growth in silver thin films. *Thin Solid Films*, 379(1-2):133-138, 2000.
- [61] U Kreibig and L Genzel. Optical absorption of small metallic particles. Surface Science, 156:678-700, 1985.
- [62] KB Mogensen and Katrin Kneipp. Size-Dependent Shifts of Plasmon Resonance in Silver Nanoparticle Films Using Controlled Dissolution: Monitoring the Onset of Surface Screening Effects. The Journal of Physical Chemistry C, 118(48):28075, 2014.
- [63] Senoy Thomas, Saritha K Nair, E Muhammad Abdul Jamal, S H Al-Harthi, Manoj Raama Varma, and M R Anantharaman. Size-dependent surface plasmon resonance in silver silica nanocomposites. Nanotechnology, 19(7):075710, mar 2008.
- [64] Vincenzo Amendola, Osman M. Bakr, and Francesco Stellacci. A study of the surface plasmon resonance of silver nanoparticles by the discrete dipole approximation method: Effect of shape, size, structure, and assembly. Plasmonics, 5(1):85-97, 2010.
- [65] Jonathan a Scholl, Ai Leen Koh, and Jennifer a Dionne. Quantum plasmon resonances of individual metallic nanoparticles. Nature, 483(7390):421-7, mar 2012.
- [66] NG Bastús, F Merkoçi, Jordi Piella, and Victor Puntes. Synthesis of Highly Monodisperse Citrate-Stabilized Silver Nanoparticles of up to 200 nm: Kinetic Control and Catalytic Properties. Chemistry of Materials, 26(9):2836, 2014.
- [67] Cecilia Noguez. Surface plasmons on metal nanoparticles: the influence of shape and physical environment. The Journal of Physical Chemistry C, 111:3806-3819, 2007.
- [68] Audrey Moores and Frederic Goettmann. The plasmon band in noble metal nanoparticles: an introduction to theory and applications. New Journal of Chemistry, 30(8):1121, 2006.
- [69] Sheng Peng, Jeffrey M McMahon, George C Schatz, Stephen K Gray, and Yugang Sun. Reversing the size-dependence of surface plasmon resonances. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 107(33):14530-4, aug 2010.
- [70] LJ Sherry, Shih-hui Chang, and GC Schatz. Localized surface plasmon resonance spectroscopy of single silver nanocubes. Nano letters, 5(10):2034-2038, 2005.
- [71] K. Chatterjee, S. Banerjee, and D. Chakravorty. Plasmon resonance shifts in oxide-coated silver nanoparticles. Physical Review B, 66(8):085421, aug 2002.

- [72] A. Pinchuk, U. Kreibig, and A. Hilger. Optical properties of metallic nanoparticles: Influence of interface effects and interband transitions. Surface Science, 557(1-3):269-280, 2004.
- [73] CG Granqvist and RA Buhrman. Ultrafine metal particles. Journal of Applied Physics, 47(5):2200-2219, 1976.
- [74] Virender K Sharma, Ria a Yngard, and Yekaterina Lin. Silver nanoparticles: green synthesis and their antimicrobial activities. Advances in colloid and interface science, 145(1-2):83-96, jan 2009.
- [75] Quang Huy Tran, Van Quy Nguyen, and Anh-tuan Le. Silver nanoparticles: synthesis, properties, toxicology, applications and perspectives. Advances in Natural Sciences: Nanoscience and Nanotechnology, 4(3):033001, 2013.
- [76] Mathias Brust and Christopher J Kiely. Some recent advances in nanostructure preparation from gold and silver particles: a short topical review. Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 202(2-3):175-186, apr 2002.
- [77] Hangxun Xu and Kenneth S Suslick. Water-soluble fluorescent silver nanoclusters. Advanced Materials, 22(10):1078-82, 2010.
- [78] Chun-Nam Lok, Chi-Ming Ho, Rong Chen, Qing-Yu He, Wing-Yiu Yu, Hongzhe Sun, Paul Kwong-Hang Tam, Jen-Fu Chiu, and Chi-Ming Che. Silver nanoparticles: partial oxidation and antibacterial activities. Journal of biological inorganic chemistry : JBIC : a publication of the Society of Biological Inorganic Chemistry, 12(4):527-34, may 2007.
- [79] Steven C. Hamm, Ravi Shankaran, Venu Korampally, Sangho Bok, Snigdha Praharaj, Gary A. Baker, J. David Robertson, Byung Doo Lee, Shramik Sengupta, Keshab Gangopadhyay, and Shubhra Gangopadhyay. Sputterdeposition of silver nanoparticles into ionic liquid as a sacrificial reservoir in antimicrobial organosilicate nanocomposite coatings. ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces, 4(1):178-184, 2012.
- [80] Geoffrey I N Waterhouse, Graham A Bowmaker, and James B Metson. Oxygen chemisorption on an electrolytic silver catalyst: A combined TPD and Raman spectroscopic study. Applied Surface Science, 214(1-4):36-51, 2003.
- [81] CB Wang, Goutam Deo, and IE Wachs. Interaction of polycrystalline silver with oxygen, water, carbon dioxide, ethylene, and methanol: In situ Raman and catalytic studies. The Journal of Physical Chemistry B, 103:5645-5656, 1999.
- [82] Laura Rodríguez-Lorenzo, Roberto de la Rica, Ramón a. Álvarez-Puebla, Luis M. Liz-Marzán, and Molly M. Stevens. Plasmonic nanosensors with inverse sensitivity by means of enzyme-guided crystal growth. Nature Materials, 11(7):604-607, 2012.

- [83] JM Obliosca, C Liu, RA Batson, and MC Babin. DNA/RNA detection using DNA-templated few-atom silver nanoclusters. Biosensors, 3(2):185-200, 2013.
- [84] Philip D Howes, Rona Chandrawati, and Molly M Stevens. Colloidal nanoparticles as advanced biological sensors. Science, 346(6205), 2014.
- [85] A Serra, E Filippo, M Re, M Palmisano, M Vittori-Antisari, A Buccolieri, and D Manno. Non-functionalized silver nanoparticles for a localized surface plasmon resonance-based glucose sensor. Nanotechnology, 20(16):165501, apr 2009.
- [86] T Tsuji, Kenzo Iryo, Norihisa Watanabe, and Masaharu Tsuji. Preparation of silver nanoparticles by laser ablation in solution: influence of laser wavelength on particle size. Applied Surface Science, 202(1-2):80-85, 2002.
- [87] F Mafune, J Kohno, Y Takeda, T Kondow, and H Sawabe. Formation and size control of sliver nanoparticles by laser ablation in aqueous solution. Journal of Physical Chemistry B, 104(39):9111-9117, 2000.
- [88] RM Tilaki and SM Mahdavi. Stability, size and optical properties of silver nanoparticles prepared by laser ablation in different carrier media. Applied Physics A, 219:215-219, 2006.
- [89] Alexander B. Smetana, Kenneth J. Klabunde, and Christopher M. Sorensen. Synthesis of spherical silver nanoparticles by digestive ripening, stabilization with various agents, and their 3-D and 2-D superlattice formation. Journal of Colloid and Interface Science, 284(2):521-526, 2005.
- [90] Ken-ichi Okazaki, Tomonori Kiyama, and Kaori Hirahara. Single-step synthesis of gold-silver alloy nanoparticles in ionic liquids by a sputter deposition technique. Chemical Communications, (6):691, 2008.
- [91] H. Yazdanfar. Fluorescent Silicon Nanoclusters. PhD Thesis, 2016.
- [92] O. Youle. Nanoparticles produced by deposition on a liquid jet. Project, 2016.
- [93] O. Youle. An investigation into the colloidal stability of silver nanoparticles produced in ethanol micro-jets. Masters Thesis, 2016.
- [94] A. Brewer and Klaus von Haeften. In situ passivation and blue luminescence of silicon clusters using a cluster beam/H2O codeposition production method. Applied Physics Letters, 94:261102, 2009.
- [95] G Torricelli, a Akraiam, and K von Haeften. Size-selecting effect of water on fluorescent silicon clusters. Nanotechnology, 22(31):315711, 2011.
- [96] Gediminas Galinis, Gauthier Torricelli, Atea Akraiam, and Klaus Von Haeften. Measurement of cluster-cluster interaction in liquids by deposition and AFM of silicon clusters onto HOPG surfaces: Height distributions of stacked layers as fingerprints of cluster-cluster interaction in solution. Journal of Nanoparticle Research, 14(8):1057, jul 2012.

- [97] Gonzalo Prieto, Jovana Zečević, Heiner Friedrich, Krijn P de Jong, and Petra E de Jongh. Towards stable catalysts by controlling collective properties of supported metal nanoparticles. Nature materials, 12(1):34-9, 2013.
- [98] CK Wu, Ming Yin, S O'Brien, and JT Koberstein. Quantitative analysis of copper oxide nanoparticle composition and structure by X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy. Chemistry of materials, (12):6054-6058, 2006.
- [99] Ü. Özgür, Ya. I. Alivov, C. Liu, a. Teke, M. a. Reshchikov, S. Dougan, V. Avrutin, S.-J. Cho, and H. Morkoç. A comprehensive review of ZnO materials and devices. Journal of Applied Physics, 98(4):041301, 2005.
- [100] Kuo-Feng Lin, Hsin-Ming Cheng, Hsu-Cheng Hsu, Li-Jiaun Lin, and Wen-Feng Hsieh. Band gap variation of size-controlled ZnO quantum dots synthesized by sol-gel method. Chemical Physics Letters, 409(4-6):208-211, 2005.
- [101] R. E. Marotti, P. Giorgi, G. Machado, and E. A. Dalchiele. Crystallite size dependence of band gap energy for electrodeposited ZnO grown at different temperatures. Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells, 90(15):2356-2361, 2006.
- [102] John Coates. Interpretation of infrared spectra, a practical approach. Encyclopedia of analytical chemistry, pages 10815-10837, 2000.
- [103] Tove Lagstrom, Tobias A. Gmur, Luca Quaroni, Alok Goel, and Matthew A. Brown. Surface vibrational structure of colloidal silica and its direct correlation with surface charge density. Langmuir, 31(12):3621-3626, 2015.
- [104] PJ Launer. Infrared analysis of organosilicon compounds: spectrastructure correlations. Silicone Compounds Register and Review, 1987.
- [105] Benoi t Tremblay, Pascale Roy, Laurent Manceron, M. Esmaïl Alikhani, and Denis Roy. Vibrational spectrum and structure of silicon trioxide SiO3: A matrix isolation infrared and density functional theory study. The Journal of Chemical Physics, 104(8):2773, 1996.
- [106] Manuel J. Llansola Portoles, Reinaldo Pis Diez, Maria L. Dell'Arciprete, Paula Caregnato, Juan Jose Romero, Daniel O. Martire, Omar Azzaroni, Marcelo Ceolen, and Monica C. Gonzalez. Understanding the parameters affecting the photoluminescence of silicon nanoparticles. Journal of Physical Chemistry C, 116(20):11315-11325, 2012.
- [107] J Finster, D Schulze, F Bechstedt, and A Meisel. Interpretation of XPS core level shifts and structure of thin silicon oxide layers. Surface Science, 153:1063-1070, 1985.
- [108] Sujit Kumar Ghosh and Tarasankar Pal. Interparticle coupling effect on the surface plasmon resonance of gold nanoparticles: From theory to applications, 2007.

- [109] S Lecoultre, a Rydlo, J Buttet, C Félix, S Gilb, and W Harbich. Ultravioletvisible absorption of small silver clusters in neon: Ag(n) (n = 1-9). The Journal of chemical physics, 134(18):184504, may 2011.
- [110] GA Ozin and H Huber. Cryophotoclustering Techniques for Synthesizing Very Small, Naked Silver Clusters (Where n=2-5). The Molecular Cluster-Bulk Metal Particle Interface. Inorganic Chemistry, 17(1):155, 1978.
- [111] Helmut Huber, Peter Mackenzie, and GA Ozin. Silver atoms and small silver clusters in ice and wax matrix supports. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 102(5):1548-1552, 1980.
- [112] BG Ershov and E Janata. Silver atoms and clusters in aqueous solution: absorption spectra and the particle growth in the absence of stabilizing Ag+ ions. The Journal of Physical Chemistry, 97(18):4589-4594, 1993.
- [113] Santosh Kumar, Michael D Bolan, and Terry P Bigioni. Glutathionestabilized magic-number silver cluster compounds. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 132(38):13141-3, sep 2010.
- [114] J Bosbach, C Hendrich, F Stietz, T Vartanyan, and F Träger. Ultrafast dephasing of surface plasmon excitation in silver nanoparticles: influence of particle size, shape, and chemical surrounding. Physical review letters, 89(25):257404, 2002.
- [115] Anna Trybala, Adaora Okoye, Sergey Semenov, Hezekiah Agogo, Ramón G Rubio, Francisco Ortega, and Víctor M Starov. Evaporation kinetics of sessile droplets of aqueous suspensions of inorganic nanoparticles. Journal of Colloid And Interface Science, 403:49-57, 2013.
- [116] Michael J. McNally, Mumin M. Koc, Gauthier Torricelli, and Klaus von Haeften. Nanoscale stripe arrays templated on Moiré patterns in graphite. Surface Science, 646:108-113, 2015.
- [117] J Xhie, K Sattler, M Ge, and N Venkateswaran. Giant and Supergiant Lattices on Graphite. Physical Review B, 47(23):15835 - 15841, 1993.
- [118] Yongfeng Wang, Yingchun Ye, and Kai Wu. Simultaneous observation of the triangular and honeycomb structures on highly oriented pyrolytic graphite at room temperature: An STM study. Surface Science, 600:729-734, 2006.
- [119] Simon Billinge. Nanoparticle structures served up on a tray. Nature, 495:453, 2013.
- [120] Kerstin Donner and Peter Jakob. Structural properties and site specific interactions of Pt with the graphene/Ru(0001) moiré overlayer. The Journal of chemical physics, 131(16):164701, 2009.
- [121] D Franz, S Runte, C Busse, S Schumacher, T Gerber, T Michely, M Mantilla, V Kilic, J Zegenhagen, and A Stierle. Atomic structure and crystalline order of graphene-supported Ir nanoparticle lattices. Physical Review Letters, 110(6):1-5, 2013.

- [122] Q Liao, H J Zhang, K Wu, H Y Li, S N Bao, and P He. Nucleation and growth of monodispersed cobalt nanoclusters on graphene moiré on Ru(0001). Nanotechnology, 22(12):125303, 2011.
- [123] Alpha T. N'Diaye, Sebastian Bleikamp, Peter J Feibelman, and Thomas Michely. Two-dimensional Ir cluster lattice on a graphene moire on Ir(111). Physical Review Letters, 97(21):1-4, 2006.
- [124] Yi Pan, Min Gao, Li Huang, Feng Liu, and H. J. Gao. Directed self-assembly of monodispersed platinum nanoclusters on graphene Moir template. Applied Physics Letters, 95(9):1-4, 2009.
- [125] Eli Sutter, Peter Albrecht, Bin Wang, Marie Laure Bocquet, Lijun Wu, Yimei Zhu, and Peter Sutter. Arrays of Ru nanoclusters with narrow size distribution templated by monolayer graphene on Ru. Surface Science, 605(17-18):1676-1684, 2011.
- [126] Jiong Lu, P S E Yeo, Yi Zheng, Zhiyong Yang, Qiaoliang Bao, Chee Kwan Gan, and K P Loh. Using the Graphene Moire Pattern for the Trapping of C60 and Homoepitaxy of Graphene. ACS Nano, (1):944-950, 2011.
- [127] James A Hayton, Emmanuelle Pauliac-vaujour, and Philip Moriarty. Anisotropic Assembly of Colloidal Nanoparticles : Exploiting Substrate Crystallinity. Nano, 2(6):361, 2007.
- [128] M.M. Koç. Non Contact Atomic Force Microscopy Investigation of Silicon Nanoparticles Deposited on HOPG. Masters Thesis, 2016.
- [129] Michael L Neidig, Jaswinder Sharma, Hsin-chih Yeh, Jennifer S Martinez, Steven D Conradson, and Andrew P Shreve. Ag K-Edge EXAFS Analysis of DNA-Templated Fluorescent Silver by DNA Sequence Variations. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 133:11837-11839, 2011.
- [130] T P Nguyen and S Lefrant. Xps study of sio thin films and sio-metal interfaces. Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter, 1(31):5197, 1989.
- [131] Hiroyuki Yamamoto, Yuji Baba, and Teikichi A. Sasaki. Electronic structures of n2+ and o2+ ion-implanted si(100). Surface and Interface Analysis, 23(6):381-385, 1995.
- [132] R. Alfonsetti, L. Lozzi, M. Passacantando, P. Picozzi, and S. Santucci. Xps studies on siox thin films. Applied Surface Science, 70-71(Part 1):222 -225, 1993.
- [133] M. Anwar, C. A. Hogarth, and R. Bulpett. An XPS study of amorphous MoO3/SiO films deposited by co-evaporation. *Journal of Materials Sci*ence, 25:1784-1788, March 1990.
- [134] R. Alfonsetti, G. De Simone, L. Lozzi, M. Passacantando, P. Picozzi, and S. Santucci. Siox surface stoichiometry by xps: A comparison of various methods. Surface and Interface Analysis, 22(1-12):89-92, 1994.

- [135] J. Finster. Sio2 in 6:3 (stishovite) and 4:2 co-ordination-characterization by core level spectroscopy (xps/xaes). Surface and Interface Analysis, 12(5):309-314, 1988.
- [136] J. Finster, E.-D. Klinkenberg, J. Heeg, and W. Braun. Esca and sexafs investigations of insulating materials for ulsi microelectronics. Vacuum, 41(7):1586 - 1589, 1990.
- [137] Mark L. Miller and Richard W. Linton. X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy of thermally treated silica (sio2) surfaces. Analytical Chemistry, 57(12):2314-2319, 1985.
- [138] J.R. Pitts, T.M. Thomas, A.W. Czanderna, and M. Passler. Xps and iss of submonolayer coverage of ag on sio2. Applied Surface Science, 26(1):107 - 120, 1986.
- [139] T. Hagio, A. Takase, and S. Umebayashi. X-ray photoelectron spectroscopic studies of β -sialons. Journal of Materials Science Letters, 11(12):878-880, Jan 1992.
- [140] Masakazu Anpo, Hiroaki Nakaya, Sukeya Kodama, Yutaka Kubokawa, Kazunari Domen, and Takaharu Onishi. Photocatalysis over binary metal oxides. enhancement of the photocatalytic activity of titanium dioxide in titanium-silicon oxides. The Journal of Physical Chemistry, 90(8):1633– 1636, 1986.
- [141] A. P. Dementjev, O. P. Ivanova, L. A. Vasilyev, A. V. Naumkin, D. M. Nemirovsky, and D. Y. Shalaev. Altered layer as sensitive initial chemical state indicator^{*}. Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A: Vacuum, Surfaces, and Films, 12(2):423-427, 1994.
- [142] Yasuo Takigawa, Kou Kurosawa, Wataru Sasaki, Kunio Yoshida, Etsuo Fujiwara, and Yoshiaki Kato. Sio bond breaking in sio2 by vacuum ultraviolet laser radiation. Journal of Non-Crystalline Solids, 116(2):293 - 296, 1990.
- [143] M. R. Alexander, R. D. Short, F. R. Jones, M. Stollenwerk, J. Zabold, and W. Michaeli. An x-ray photoelectron spectroscopic investigation into the chemical structure of deposits formed from hexamethyldisiloxane/ oxygen plasmas. Journal of Materials Science, 31(7):1879-1885, Jan 1996.
- [144] A. Stoch, J. Stoch, and A. Rakowska. An xps and sems study of silica sol-gel/metal substrate interaction. Surface and Interface Analysis, 22(1-12):242-247, 1994.
- [145] V.I. Nefedov, Ya.V. Salyn, G. Leonhardt, and R. Scheibe. A comparison of different spectrometers and charge corrections used in x-ray photoelectron spectroscopy. Journal of Electron Spectroscopy and Related Phenomena, 10(2):121 - 124, 1977.
- [146] Th. Gross, M. Ramm, H. Sonntag, W. Unger, H. M. Weijers, and E. H. Adem. An xps analysis of different sio2 modifications employing a c 1s as well

as an au 4f7/2 static charge reference. Surface and Interface Analysis, 18(1):59-64, 1992.

- [147] P. Mazzoldi, A. Carnera, F. Caccavale, M. L. Favaro, A. Boscoletto, G. Granozzi, R. Bertoncello, and G. Battaglin. N and ar ion-implantation effects in sio2 films on si single-crystal substrates. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 70(7):3528-3536, 1991.
- [148] Yong S. Jin, Qi J. Yan, Zhong R. Yin, and Yi Chen. Secondary ion mass spectrometry and x-ray photoelectron spectroscopy of na2moo4/sio2 catalysts for methane oxidative coupling. J. Chem. Soc., Faraday Trans., 91:381-384, 1995.
- [149] R. Bertoncello, A. Glisenti, G. Granozzi, G. Battaglin, F. Caccavale, E. Cattaruzza, and P. Mazzoldi. Chemical interactions in titanium- and tungsten-implanted fused silica. Journal of Non-Crystalline Solids, 162(3):205 - 216, 1993.
- [150] A. Glachant, B. Balland, A. Ronda, J.C. Bureau, and C. Plossu. Nitridation of sio2 thin films in low ammonia pressures: An aes, sims, xps and raman spectroscopy investigation. Surface Science, 205(1):287 - 310, 1988.
- [151] F. G. Bell and L. Ley. Photoemission study of sio_x ($0 \le x \le 2$) alloys. Phys. Rev. B, 37:8383-8393, May 1988.
- [152] M. Jeske, K. G. Jung, J. W. Schultze, M. Thönissen, and H. Münder. Xps investigations of electrochemically modified porous silicon layers. Surface and Interface Analysis, 22(1-12):363-366, 1994.
- [153] W. H. Chang, I. Bello, and W. M. Lau. Xray photoelectron spectroscopy study of low energy cf+ ion interactions with silicon. Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A: Vacuum, Surfaces, and Films, 11(4):1221-1225, 1993.
- [154] Hiroaki Iwakuro, Masayasu Tokonami, Tsukasa Kuroda, Shozo Tamaki, and Yasuji Kitatsuji. Interfacial layers of high-barrier schottky diode of al/n-type (100)si exposed to h 2 plasma. Japanese Journal of Applied Physics, 32(12R):5487, 1993.
- [155] W.M Lau and X.-W Wu. Measurements of interface state density by x-ray photoelectron spectroscopy. Surface Science, 245(3):345 352, 1991.
- [156] S.J. Morgan, R.H. Williams, and J.M. Mooney. An xps study of thin pt and ir silicide overlayer formation on si(100)2 x 1 surfaces. Applied Surface Science, 56-58(Part 1):493 - 500, 1992.
- [157] Fausto Sirotti, Maurizio De Santis, and Giorgio Rossi. Synchrotronradiation photoemission and x-ray absorption of fe silicides. Phys. Rev. B, 48:8299-8306, Sep 1993.
- [158] E. Puppin, I. Lindau, and I. Abbati. Photoemission core level shifts in gd silicides. Solid State Communications, 77(12):983 - 986, 1991.

[159] G. M. Ingo, N. Zacchetti, D. della Sala, and C. Coluzza. X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy investigation on the chemical structure of amorphous silicon nitride. Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A: Vacuum, Surfaces, and Films, 7(5):3048-3055, 1989.

6.1	Appendix	A: SILICA	2р	Binding	Energies
-----	----------	-----------	----	---------	----------

SiO 99.8 101.7 101.9 [130] SiO 4 99.8 101.9 [131] [132] SiO 5 102.2 [133] [132] [133] SiO 105 102.2 [134] [132] [132] SiO1.52 102.4 [132] [134] [132] SiO1.52 102.8 [132] [133] SiO2 102.8 [132] [134] SiO2 103 [135] [136] SiO2 103 [136] [136] SiO2 103 [136] [136] SiO2 103 [138] [133] SiO2 103 [138] [133] SiO2 103.1 [140] [132] SiO2 103.1 [130] [132] SiO2 103.1 [132] [133] SiO2 103.1 [132] [133] SiO2 103.1 [132] [133] SiO2 103.1	Formula	Si-0 Energy (eV)	Si-1 Energy (eV)	Si-2 Energy (eV)	Si-3 Energy (eV)	Si-4 Energy (eV)	Article
SiO0.4 99.8 101.9 [131] SiO0.93 102 [132] SiO 102.2 [134] SiO1.02 102.2 [134] SiO1.19 102.4 [132] SiO1.24 102.4 [132] SiO1.52 102.7 [132] SiO1.49 102.8 [134] SiO2 102.8 [133] SiO2 103 [137] SiO2 103 [137] SiO2 103 [137] SiO2 103.1 [130] SiO2 103.1 [132] SiO2 103.3 [131] SiO2 103 [132] SiO2 103 [131] SiO2 103 [132] SiO2 103 [131] SiO2 103 [132] SiO2 103.1 [133] <td>SiO</td> <td>-/</td> <td>-,</td> <td>101.7</td> <td></td> <td>-,</td> <td>[130]</td>	SiO	-/	-,	101.7		-,	[130]
SiO0.93 101.9 [132] SiO1.02 102.2 [133] SiO1.05 102.2 [134] SiO1.05 102.2 [132] SiO1.05 102.4 [132] SiO1.35 102.4 [132] SiO1.35 102.4 [132] SiO1.52 102.8 [132] SiO2 103 [137] SiO2 103 [137] SiO2 103.1 [138] SiO2 103.1 [139] SiO2 103.1 [139] SiO2 103.1 [139] SiO2 103.2 [144] SiO2 103.1 [139] SiO2 103.1 [139] SiO2 103.1 [139] SiO2 103.2 [142] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.4 [146] SiO2 103.5 [144] SiO2 103.6 [144] SiO2 103.6 [144] SiO2 103.6 [146]	SiO0.4		99.8				[131]
SiO 102 [133] SiO102 102.2 [134] SiO105 102.2 [132] SiO119 102.4 [132] SiO155 102.4 [132] SiO155 102.7 [132] SiO152 102.8 [132] SiO149 102.8 [132] SiO152 103 [137] SiO2 103 [137] SiO2 103.1 [138] SiO2 103.1 [139] SiO2 103.1 [139] SiO2 103.1 [139] SiO2 103.2 [141] SiO2 103.2 [142] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.5 [147] SiO2 103.6 [146] SiO2 103.6 [146] SiO2 103.6 [148] SiO2	SiO0.93			101.9			[132]
SiO1.02 102.2 [134] SiO1.03 102.4 [132] SiO1.24 102.4 [132] SiO1.25 102.7 [132] SiO1.49 102.8 [132] SiO2 102.8 [132] SiO2 103 [132] SiO2 103 [132] SiO2 103 [132] SiO2 103 [133] SiO2 103 [132] SiO2 103.1 [132] SiO2 103.1 [132] SiO2 103.1 [132] SiO2 103.2 [141] SiO2 103.2 [141] SiO2 103.2 [143] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.4 [146] SiO2 103.5 [147] SiO2 103.6 [146]	SiO			102			[133]
SiO1.05 102.2 [132] SiO1.19 102.4 [132] SiO1.35 102.4 [132] SiO1.52 102.8 [132] SiO1.49 102.8 [132] SiO2 103 [132] SiO2 103 [132] SiO2 103 [132] SiO2 103 [137] SiO2 103.1 [133] SiO2 103.1 [132] SiO2 103.1 [133] SiO2 103.1 [140] SiO2 103.2 [141] SiO2 103.2 [141] SiO2 103.2 [142] SiO2 103.2 [143] SiO2 103.2 [143] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.4 [146] SiO2 103.5 [147] SiO2 103.6 [146] SiO2 103.6 [146] SiO2 103.6 [146] SiO2 103.6 [146]	SiO1.02			102.2			[134]
SiO119 102.4 [134] SiO135 102.7 [132] SiO152 102.8 [134] SiO149 102.8 [134] SiO152 102.8 [132] SiO2 103 [135] SiO2 103 [136] SiO2 103 [137] SiO2 103.04 [133] SiO2 103.1 [132] SiO2 103.1 [133] SiO2 103.1 [133] SiO2 103.1 [132] SiO2 103.1 [133] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.4 [145] SiO2 103.5 [147] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [146]	SiO1.05			102.2			[132]
Si0124 102.4 102.7 [132] Si0135 102.8 [134] Si0149 103 [132] Si02 102.8 [132] Si02 103 [132] Si02 103.1 [142] Si02 103.2 [141] Si02 103.3 [144] Si02 103.4 [146] Si02 103.5 [147] Si02 103.6 [146] Si02 103.6 [146]	SiO1.19			102.4			[134]
SiO135 102.7 [132] SiO149 102.8 [132] SiO2 103 [135] SiO2 103 [136] SiO2 103 [137] SiO2 103 [138] SiO2 103.04 [138] SiO2 103.1 [132] SiO2 103.04 [138] SiO2 103.1 [140] SiO2 103.2 [141] SiO2 103.2 [141] SiO2 103.2 [141] SiO2 103.2 [141] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.4 [146] SiO2 103.5 [147] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [146] SiO2 103.6 [146] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [152]	SiO1.24			102.4			[132]
SiO152 102.8 [134] SiO2 103 [135] SiO2 103 [136] SiO2 103 [136] SiO2 103 [137] SiO2 103.04 [138] SiO2 103.04 [138] SiO2 103.1 [132] SiO2 103.04 [138] SiO2 103.1 [140] SiO2 103.2 [141] SiO2 103.2 [141] SiO2 103.2 [141] SiO2 103.2 [143] SiO1.8 103.2 [144] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.5 [147] SiO2 103.5 [147] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [152] SiO2 104 [152]	SiO1.35				102.7		[132]
SiO1.49 102.8 [132] SiO2 103 [135] SiO2 103 [137] SiO2 103 [137] SiO2 103.04 [138] SiO1.78 103.1 [132] SiO2 103.1 [140] SiO2 103.2 [141] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.4 [145] SiO2 103.5 [147] SiO2 103.6 [146] SiO2 103.6 [148] SiO2 103.6 [148] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [151] SiO2 104 [151]	SiO1.52				102.8		[134]
SiO2 103 [135] SiO2 103 [137] SiO2 103.04 [138] SiO178 103.1 [132] SiO2 103.1 [132] SiO2 103.1 [132] SiO2 103.1 [132] SiO2 103.1 [140] SiO2 103.2 [141] SiO2 103.2 [143] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.5 [147] SiO2 103.5 [147] SiO2 103.6 [146] SiO2 103.6 [146] SiO2 103.6 [146] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [152]	5:01.49				102.8		[132]
SiO2 103 [136] SiO2 103.04 [138] SiO178 103.1 [132] SiO2 103.1 [132] SiO2 103.1 [133] SiO2 103.1 [132] SiO2 103.1 [132] SiO2 103.1 [142] SiO2 103.2 [141] SiO2 103.2 [142] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.5 [147] SiO2 103.6 [146] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [152] SiO2 103.6 [152] SiO2 103.6 [152] SiO2 104 [151] Si 99.6 [152] [153] <tr< td=""><td>5:02</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>103</td><td>[135]</td></tr<>	5:02					103	[135]
SiO2 103 [137] SiO2 103.04 [138] SiO2 103.1 [132] SiO2 103.1 [139] SiO2 103.1 [140] SiO2 103.2 [141] SiO2 103.2 [143] SiO2 103.2 [143] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.5 [147] SiO2 103.6 [146] SiO2 103.6 [146] SiO2 103.6 [149] SiO2 103.6 [152] Si 99.6 [152]	5102					103	[136]
SiO12 103,04 [138] SiO178 103,1 [132] SiO2 103,1 [132] SiO2 103,1 [140] SiO2 103,2 [141] SiO2 103,2 [143] SiO2 103,2 [143] SiO2 103,3 [144] SiO2 103,5 [148] SiO2 103,6 [146] SiO2 103,6 [150] SiO2 103,6 [151] SiO2 103,6 [152] SiO2 103,6 [152] SiO2 103,6 [152] Si 99,6 [152]	SiO2					103	[137]
SiO178 103.1 [139] SiO2 103.1 [140] SiO2 103.2 [141] SiO2 103.2 [142] SiO2 103.2 [143] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.4 [146] SiO2 103.5 [148] SiO2 103.6 [146] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [151] SiO2 103.6 [152] SiO2 103.6 [152] SiO2 103.6 [152] Si 99.6 [152]	5102					103.04	[130]
SiO2 103.1 [140] SiO2 103.2 [141] SiO2 103.2 [142] SiO2 103.2 [143] SiO2 103.2 [143] SiO2 103.2 [143] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.4 [146] SiO2 103.5 [147] SiO2 103.6 [147] SiO2 103.6 [146] SiO2 103.6 [146] SiO2 103.6 [147] SiO2 103.6 [147] SiO2 103.6 [148] SiO2 103.6 [149] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [151] SiO2 103.6 [152] Si 99.6 [152] Si 99.6 [154]	5101.78					103.1	[132]
SiO2 103.1 [141] SiO2 103.2 [141] SiO2 103.2 [142] SiO2 103.2 [143] SiO2 103.2 [143] SiO2 103.2 [144] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.4 [146] SiO2 103.5 [147] SiO2 103.5 [147] SiO2 103.6 [146] SiO2 103.6 [146] SiO2 103.6 [146] SiO2 103.6 [147] SiO2 103.6 [148] SiO2 103.6 [149] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [151] Si 99.6 [152] Si 99.6 [154]	5102					103.1	[139]
SiO2 103.2 [142] SiO2 103.2 [143] SiO1.8 103.2 [138] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.4 [146] SiO2 103.5 [147] SiO2 103.5 [147] SiO2 103.6 [147] SiO2 103.6 [149] SiO2 103.6 [149] SiO2 103.6 [146] SiO2 103.6 [149] SiO2 103.6 [149] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [151] Si 99.6 [152] Si 99.6 [154]	5102					103.1	[140]
SiO2 103.2 [143] SiO18 103.2 [143] SiO2 103.2 [143] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.4 [146] SiO2 103.5 [147] SiO2 103.5 [148] SiO2 103.6 [146] SiO2 103.6 [146] SiO2 103.6 [149] SiO2 103.6 [149] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [152] Si 99.6 [152] Si 99.6 [154]	5i02					103.2	[1/2]
SiO1.8 103.2 [138] SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.3 [145] SiO2 103.4 [146] SiO2 103.5 [148] SiO2 103.5 [148] SiO2 103.6 [149] SiO2 103.6 [149] SiO2 103.6 [149] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [152] Si 99.6 [152] Si 99.6 [154]	5i02					103.2	[142]
SiO2 103.3 [144] SiO2 103.3 [145] SiO2 103.4 [146] SiO2 103.5 [147] SiO2 103.5 [148] SiO2 103.6 [146] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [151] SiO2 104 [151] Si 99.6 [152] Si 99.6 [154]	Si018					103.2	[138]
SiO2 103.3 [145] SiO2 103.4 [146] SiO2 103.5 [147] SiO2 103.5 [148] SiO2 103.6 [146] SiO2 103.6 [149] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [151] Si 99.6 [152] Si 99.6 [153] Si 99.6 [154]	SiO2					103.3	[144]
SiO2 103.4 [146] SiO2 103.5 [147] SiO2 103.5 [148] SiO2 103.6 [146] SiO2 103.6 [148] SiO2 103.6 [149] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 104 [151] Si 99.6 [152] Si 99.6 [152] Si 99.6 [153] Si 99.6 [154]	SiO2					103.3	[145]
SiO2 103.5 [147] SiO2 103.5 [148] SiO2 103.6 [146] SiO2 103.6 [149] SiO2 103.6 [149] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 104 [151] Si 99.6 [152] Si 99.6 [153] Si 99.6 [154]	SiO2					103.4	[146]
SiO2 103.5 [148] SiO2 103.6 [146] SiO2 103.6 [149] SiO2 103.6 [149] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 103.6 [151] SiO2 104 [151] Si 99.6 [152] Si 99.6 [153] Si 99.6 [154]	SiO2					103.5	[147]
SiO2 103.6 [146] SiO2 103.6 [149] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 104 [151] Si 99.6 [152] Si 99.6 [153] Si 99.6 [154]	SiO2					103.5	[148]
SiO2 103.6 [149] SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 104 [151] Si 99.6 [152] Si 99.6 [153] Si 99.6 [154] Si 99.6 [154]	SiO2					103.6	[146]
SiO2 103.6 [150] SiO2 104 [151] Si 99.6 [152] Si 99.6 [153] Si 99.6 [153] Si 99.6 [154]	SiO2					103.6	[149]
SiO2 104 [151] Si 99.6 [152] Si 99.6 [153] Si 99.6 [154]	SiO2					103.6	[150]
Si 99.6 [152] Si 99 [152] Si 99.6 [153] Si 99.6 [154]	SiO2					104	[151]
Si 99 [152] Si 99.6 [153] Si 99.6 [154]	Si	99.6					[152]
Si 99.6 [153] Si 99.6 [154]	Si	99					[152]
Si 99.6 [154]	Si	99.6					[153]
	Si	99.6					[154]
51 98.9 [155]	Si	98.9					[155]
Si 99.22 [156]	Si Si	99.22					[156]
51 99.1	5	99.1					[157]
		99.3					[158]
51 99.2 [136]		99.2					[136]
		99.59					[159]

6.2 APPENDIX B: CODE FOR SHIRLEY BACKGROUND SUBTRACTION

```
# Shirley Baseline for XPS #
# Mike McNally #
# Based on iterative fitting #
*****
#Define Functions
#Returns the first iteration of a Shirley background vector
#of length npt from data vector IData with Energy spacing EInterval
# p[1] = low energy point
# p[2] = constant
ShirleyA <- function(p) {</pre>
Base <- vector()</pre>
Base <- p[1] + cumsum((p[2]*((EInterval/2)</pre>
* (IData[-npt] + (diff(IData)/2) - p[1]) )))
Base <- append(Base,Base[npt-1])</pre>
return(Base)
}
#Returns the nth iteration of Shirley background where
#IData is the data vector and vector BaseA is iteration n-1
ShirleyN <- function(p) {</pre>
Base <- vector()</pre>
Base <- BaseA[-npt] + cumsum(p[1]*((EInterval/2)</pre>
* (IData[-npt] + (diff(IData)/2) - tail(BaseA,length(BaseA)-1))))
Base <- append(Base,Base[npt-1])</pre>
return(Base)
}
#Returns the mean square deviation of data vector BaseB
#from Shirley background with params p for first and last "range" pts
ShirleyfitA <- function(p) {</pre>
Endvars <- 0.5 * (mean((IData[1:range] - ShirleyA(p)[1:range])^2)</pre>
+ mean((IData[(npt-range):npt] - ShirleyA(p)[(npt-range):npt])^2))
return(Endvars)
}
#Because R isn't C++ and I'm too lazy to look up how
#I might make function classes / objects or whatever
ShirleyfitN <- function(p) {</pre>
Endvars <- 0.5 * (mean((IData[1:range] - ShirleyN(p)[1:range])^2)</pre>
+ mean((IData[(npt-range):npt] - ShirleyN(p)[(npt-range):npt])^2))
return(Endvars)
```

```
#read data
Data <- read.table("./Table.dat", header=FALSE, as.is=TRUE, sep=",")</pre>
#set up data
E <- Data$V1
I <- Data$V2
E <- rev(E)
I <- rev(I)
IData <- I
#set up initial parameters
range <- 200
npt <- length(E)</pre>
EInterval <- E[1]-E[2]
IEndA <- mean(I[1:500])</pre>
ConstA <- 0.1
A.O <- c(IEndA, ConstA)
NLM <- nlm(ShirleyfitA, A.O)
A.1 <- NLM$estimate
B.O <- 0.05
nloop <- 1
BaseA <- ShirleyA(A.1)</pre>
while(nloop > 0) {
nloop <- nloop + 1</pre>
NLM <- nlm(ShirleyfitN,B.0)
```

}
Colophon

HIS THESIS WAS TYPESET using LATEX, originally developed by Leslie Lamport and based on Donald Knuth's TEX. The body text is set in 12 point Tide Sans, a humanist sans font designed by Kyle Wayne Benson. This template, which can be used to format a PhD thesis with this look and feel, is based on the Harvard thesis class, released under the permissive MIT (x11) license, and can be found online at github.com/suchow/ or from the author at suchow@post.harvard.edu.